

Strengthening the collection, interpretation and use of data to target expansion and integration of case detection and management interventions against neglected tropical diseases

Hope Nancy Simpson

Thesis submitted in accordance with the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy of the University of London

July 2023

Department of Disease Control

Faculty of Infectious Tropical Diseases

LONDON SCHOOL OF HYGIENE & TROPICAL MEDICINE

No funding received

Research group affiliation(s): London Applied and Spatial

London Applied and Spatial Research Group (LASER)

Declaration of Own Work

I Hope Nancy Simpson, confirm that the work presented in this thesis is my own. Where information has been derived from other sources, I confirm that this has been indicated in the thesis.

Table of Contents

1.	Abstract	4
2.	Acknowledgements	6
3.	Introduction	7
	3.1. NTD Spatial Distributions	7
	3.2. NTD Control	7
	3.3. NTDs and Universal Health Coverage	9
	3.4. Remaining Challenges to NTD Control	9
	3.5. Overarching Objectives of this PhD	10
4.	Literature Review: Geographical targeting of NTD interventions	11
	4.1. Mass drug administration	11
	4.2. Case detection and management interventions	13
	4.3. The role of the primary healthcare system	15
	4.4. The practicalities of using spatially-referenced data for decision making	16
	4.5. Conclusions	18
5.	Critical Account of Published Works	20
	5.1. Describing data routinely available in Ghana	20
	5.2. Synthesising epidemiological data into evidence	23
	5.3. Modelling disease suitability using secondary data and evidence consensus	26
	5.4. National-level evidence consensus to target case finding activities	
	5.5. Development & evaluation of community-based surveillance tools	37
6.	Discussion	40
	6.1. Evidence for action	40
	6.2. Financial Support	46
	6.3. Engagement of community-based health staff	47
	6.4. Integration of planning and implementation	50
	6.5. Conclusions	52
Published Works		
Applicant contributions to publications and underlying research within portfolio		
7.	References	57

1. Abstract

Neglected tropical diseases (NTDs) cause a large burden of morbidity, primarily affecting disadvantaged communities. They are variously targeted for control, elimination, and eradication, which will require primary health system strengthening and public health interventions. Certain NTDs are controlled through mass drug administration (MDA) to reduce transmission and limit progression of infections to morbidity; others (grouped as 'case management NTDs') by early identification and treatment of individual cases, which can be enhanced through active case searches. To maximise efficiency, interventions should be targeted to high prevalence or incidence areas, and integrated across co-endemic NTDs. Targeting and integration of case detection and management interventions are challenging, however, as existing data on case management NTDs originate mainly from routine health facility notifications, which are both under-representative and biased due to uneven service coverage and accessibility.

This portfolio comprises five research papers exploring these issues, and approaches to strengthen surveillance for NTDs. The first used remote georeferencing to map routinely detected cases of NTD morbidity in Ghana, and investigated epidemiological indicators by health facility accessibility. The second is a systematic literature review of the global distribution of Buruli ulcer. The third used environmental niche modelling to predict suitability for Buruli ulcer in Africa. The fourth integrated multiple decision criteria to target a survey for podoconiosis in India. The fifth describes a prevalence survey for lymphatic filariasis morbidity to evaluate a community-based screening method.

This work advocates for a broader perspective on the targeting of NTD case detection and management interventions, specifically acknowledging potential biases in routine surveillance data, and for further integration of interventions across diseases and within primary health systems. Financial support, development of information and surveillance systems, and further engagement and support of community health staff are critical. This is intended to support more equitable programmes and progress towards universal health coverage.





2. Acknowledgements

I am grateful to many people who have supported me over the course of this work. Firstly I have to acknowledge my supervisors: Dr Rachel Pullan, Dr Katie Gass, and Prof Ben Koudou.

Rachel has provided invaluable support both in terms of leading the projects I have worked on, and in helping me to consolidate this portfolio. Our detailed discussions throughout my registration period enabled me to conceive and express the ideas linking this research together, and her thorough reviews have strengthened this work enormously. She is an inspirational and motivating PI and her supervision has taught me to strive for meaningful research goals. Katie's extensive experience in operational research on neglected tropical diseases was extremely helpful in the development of this summary. She brought important insights on the design and implementation of NTD surveys and challenged me to think more deeply and critically about the work. Ben was co-PI of the project in Cote d'Ivoire, and hosted me there within his research team between January and May 2021. There was no problem he could not solve in the field and he was generous with his time. This experience was foundational to my development as a researcher and Ben continues to be a supportive mentor in ongoing projects. I am also grateful to Dr Daniele Konan and Dr Jeanne d'Arc Koffi who were part of his team. They were not only co-field coordinators (as well as interpreters for my franglais), but became close friends during the time we lived and worked together.

Several others have been essential to this work. Dr Jorge Cano supervised my Masters project in 2015, starting me off on the path I've followed since. Papers 1-3 were all produced under Jorge's expert guidance, particularly Paper 3, which used adaptations of code he had written for earlier projects. Jorge was a patient and generous mentor and his support was foundational to my academic journey. Paper 4 was part of the Global Atlas of Podoconiosis project, led by Dr Kebede Deribe. Kebede's dedication to child health and NTD control is truly inspirational, and his project management skills are unsurpassed. Dr Joe Timothy was co-PI on the project covering Paper 5 and provided extensive supervision covering planning, logistics, field activities and analysis, as well as reminding me to enjoy the experience provided by this unique fieldwork opportunity. I think Joe is the most rigorous epidemiologist I have worked with and I have learnt so much from him. I would also like to thank Dr Kate Halliday and Prof Gail Davey who have been supportive managers and brilliant mentors whilst I have worked on this portfolio, and played important roles in my academic development.

As part of the LASER group and LSHTM more widely, as well as Brighton and Sussex Medical School, I have formed close connections with colleagues which have made work more enjoyable and interesting. Although there are too many to name, I do want to thank Will, Hugo, Kallista, Kim, Stella, Stefan, Georgia and Rowa (in addition to the above) for making collaborations and work trips so fun and fulfilling, as well as for the day-to-day interactions which spark ideas and brighten up the office.

I have been supported by several different funders over my seven years at LSHTM, including the Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation, Unlimit Health, and the NIHR, but the most important to note is the AIM Initiative (part of the American Leprosy Mission). Most of the research in this portfolio was supported by the AIM Initiative, either financially or through technical collaboration.

This section would not be complete without expressing enormous gratitude to my family. The unfailing support of my parents, grandparents, sisters, and partner (who kindly proofread this document) has kept me motivated throughout the course of my work.

3. Introduction

In this section I provide a perspective on the state of the field when I began working on this portfolio, including references up to 2016. More recent developments will be covered in subsequent sections.

Neglected tropical diseases (NTDs) are a medically diverse set of conditions caused by a wide range of pathogens and environmental and animal exposures [1, 2]. They are grouped on the basis that they disproportionately affect the most marginalised, remote, and economically disadvantaged populations, and are under-resourced relative to burden they impart [3, 4]. More than a billion people worldwide are affected by or at risk of NTDs, and while it is difficult to quantify the number who suffer morbidity due to these diseases, the total is estimated to reach into the hundreds of millions [5, 6]. NTDs can cause physical and cognitive impairments, pain, disfigurement, stunting and decreased fitness, and put affected people at risk of stigma and poor mental health outcomes. The extreme burden of NTDs prevents affected populations from enjoying 'the highest attainable standard of health... one of the fundamental rights of every human being '[7]. This is largely preventable, since most cases of NTD morbidity can be averted by preventive chemotherapy (PC)- the strategic delivery of medicines to populations considered at risk [8]- or prompt case management (CM) of individual cases.

3.1. NTD Spatial Distributions

Since NTDs share poverty-related risk factors, their spatial distributions often overlap, resulting in coendemicity. However, their distributions vary in extent and focality, reflecting differences in their epidemiology and transmission pathways. Some NTDs have strong environmental drivers: lymphatic filariasis (LF), onchocerciasis, trachoma and schistosomiasis are limited to areas suitable for their vectors [9-12], and podoconiosis is restricted to areas of particular soil types [13]. Buruli ulcer (BU) and mycetoma are caused by environmental pathogens, and occur in environments suitable for these organisms, and where humans come into contact with them [14, 15]. The soil transmitted helminthiases (STH) are widespread, but most prevalent in populations with low access to improved water and sanitation, and where environmental conditions favour the survival of their eggs and larvae in the soil [16]. Yaws, which is spread by person to person transmission, may be associated with environmental or climatic factors [17], while other diseases spread by direct contact (such as leprosy and scabies), show spatial heterogeneity most likely driven by socio-economic factors, human population density and contact patterns [18-20].

3.2. NTD Control

Five NTDs are already controlled through large-scale PC programmes, which use mass drug administration (MDA) to treat entire populations in endemic areas, aiming to limit transmission and/or

progression of infections to morbidity [4]. The five PC-NTDs are LF, onchocerciasis, trachoma, schistosomiasis, and STH. Other NTDs, including BU and leprosy, are controlled by early detection (for example, through community education and active case searches) and prompt case management [4]. Although effective treatments are available for many NTDs, they can be difficult to access: health facilities may be too far or too expensive to travel to, or diagnosis/ treatment may not be available. In many instances, untreated infections can progress to chronic cases, which require morbidity management and disability prevention (MMDP) interventions to improve patient quality of life and reduce the risk of further deterioration. While NTDs are often grouped according to their main form of control (PC or CM), chronic manifestations of PC NTDs can also require substantial CM [21].

In 2012, the WHO published a roadmap for accelerating work to overcome the impact of NTDs, setting targets to control, eliminate, or eradicate eleven NTDs by 2020 [4]. The roadmap set out five groups of interventions against target diseases: PC; case detection and management; vector control; veterinary public health; and water, sanitation and hygiene. Health systems strengthening was positioned as a cross-cutting intervention. In the same year, a partnership including representatives of endemic countries, non-governmental organisations, funding bodies, and pharmaceutical companies signed the London Declaration on Neglected Tropical Diseases, committing to support control efforts aligned to the WHO Roadmap [22]. Signatories pledged to expand programmes for the delivery of PC, and pharmaceutical companies committed to donate medicines for MDA, making this a highly cost-effective and scalable intervention, particularly when delivery could be integrated across programmes [23].

For CM-NTDs, the 2012 Roadmap identified an urgent need to reduce the time between initial symptom presentation and diagnosis, and recommended capacity building within NTD programmes, including in case management and monitoring and evaluation, in order to facilitate integrated control. Specific guidance on the integration of activities for CM-NTDs was lacking in the 2012 Roadmap, but the WHO Regional Strategic Plan for NTDs in the African Region 2014–2020 [24], published one year later, recommended integrated case-finding for BU, leprosy, and other NTDs in co-endemic areas. Guidelines on MMDP for LF in 2013 also recommended integration of activities for LF with leprosy and BU [25]. A 2015 paper [26] recommended integrated control for BU and leprosy, particularly in the areas of promoting early diagnosis, confirmatory testing, prevention of disability, and surgeries. It was recognised that integration of these aspects would be more operationally challenging and more costly than integration of MDA, requiring adaptation of training programmes for staff cadres including community health staff, health facility staff, and laboratory personnel. It would also pose a challenge for donor-funded activities by requiring them to include diseases outside of their target remit.

3.3. NTDs and Universal Health Coverage

The United Nations made NTD control part of the Sustainable Development Agenda in 2015, with the third goal (SDG3) - to 'ensure healthy lives and promote wellbeing for all at all ages' - including a target to 'end the epidemic' of NTDs by 2030 [27]. Another target of SDG3 was Universal Health Coverage (UHC), aiming to enable all individuals to receive required health services without incurring financial hardship. In recognition of the fact that populations in need of interventions against NTDs typically have lower access to quality health services, and that UHC is defined by an equitable distribution of health services, NTD control was positioned as a 'litmus test for UHC' and a 'tracer of equity' [28]. In their first monitoring report on UHC, the WHO and World Bank included the proportion of people who received PC out of those requiring it for at least one NTD as one of eight indicators of UHC in health promotion and prevention [29]. The monitoring of this indicator was seemingly straightforward, as Ministries of Health (MoH) in endemic countries are required to report on the number of people targeted for PC and the number receiving it annually, providing a readily available data source.

3.4. Remaining Challenges to NTD Control

While MDA programmes have been vastly scaled up since 2000, access to case detection and management interventions has not increased by the same scale, and remains a global public health challenge [30]. A large part of this challenge is that the delivery of case detection and management interventions requires trained healthcare workers, health services accessible to the population, and reliable supplies of diagnostic tests, medicines, medical materials and equipment, and accredited laboratories with qualified technicians. As such, these interventions are much more costly per person treated compared to MDA, especially for patients who require a continuum of care to manage chronic conditions [31, 32]. Due to the extremely limited funding available for NTD case detection and management, these interventions are under-implemented, and are generally not mainstreamed into primary healthcare, but supported by external partners. This can lead to siloed operational structures, impinge upon country ownership of control programmes, and may jeopardise the long-term sustainability of these interventions [28].

Due to the low levels of access to diagnostic and treatment services for NTDs, many people requiring CM interventions are un-diagnosed, or untreated following loss to follow-up after initial identification [33, 34]. Furthermore, since cases from remote and marginalised populations- those most at risk of NTDs- are less able to access quality health services, they are even less likely to be diagnosed and reported, and travel times have been reported as a major cause of treatment default [35]. As a result, routine surveillance data are not only under-representative of NTD burdens, they are likely to show a biased representation of disease distribution, with rates apparently higher in areas where cases have

the best chance of reaching health services. This presents a major challenge to NTD programmes in deciding where to implement interventions to promote early case detection and improve case management. Routine surveillance data are generally the only information readily available to identify endemic communities, and so are often used to target interventions and inform supply chains [36]. However, restricting case detection activities to areas with higher numbers of recorded cases risks exacerbating health inequalities reflected in routine surveillance data, and neglecting those most in need.

3.5. Overarching Objectives of this PhD

- 1. To review the use of surveillance and monitoring data and model predictions for the geographical targeting of interventions against NTDs.
- 2. To explore opportunities for integration of routine surveillance data on NTDs controlled through case management, and make recommendations for future surveillance to inform integrated interventions.
- 3. To describe biases affecting data on NTDs and their potential impact on global understanding of disease distributions.
- 4. To use environmental modelling to predict the distribution of Buruli ulcer in Africa.
- 5. To demonstrate the integration of multiple data sources and decision criteria for targeting podoconiosis case finding activities.
- 6. To evaluate the reliability and equity of routine NTD surveillance and make recommendations for strengthening of community-based surveillance.

The first objective will be elaborated through a narrative review drawing on the literature and programmatic experience of elimination programmes for NTDs. Objectives 2-6 will be covered by publications within this portfolio.

4. Literature Review: Geographical targeting of NTD interventions *Objective:* To review the use of surveillance and monitoring data and modelling predictions for the geographical targeting of interventions against NTDs

In this chapter, I present a narrative review describing how data collection, analysis, and modelling have been applied to inform geographically targeted interventions against NTDs. Public health interventions are deliberate measures intended to improve population health, providing complementary services to facility-based care. Interventions are necessary for the control and elimination of NTDs (and other infectious diseases) when routine services for diagnosis, treatment, and case management are insufficient, or when people affected do not or cannot access them [37]. Interventions for NTDs include mass drug administration (MDA), active case finding, and improving access to diagnostic and treatment services. To improve cost-efficiency and limit unnecessary implementation and treatment, these interventions can be targeted to populations at risk or to geographical areas with high prevalence or incidence. Spatial targeting depends on defining areas where incidence or prevalence is concentrated. I describe different approaches to data collection and analysis to inform spatially targeted interventions, considering how this relates to control at different levels, disease epidemiology, and the need for treatment and management of individual cases.

4.1. Mass drug administration

Since 2000, MDA to control five NTDs has expanded widely across the African continent [38]. A topdown approach to programming and decision making, with oversight by large disease-specific or integrated programmes enabled rapid implementation and scale-up of operations, and impressive progress in the surveillance and monitoring of PC-NTDs [38]. The need for MDA to control transmission or morbidity within defined units of population (implementation units [IUs]) is determined by infection prevalence, measured in 'mapping surveys', which apply simple diagnostic tests for infection or clinical screening for signs of disease. As MDA is a population-level intervention, individual cases are not treated on the basis of infection or disease status. Rather, entire communities or risk-groups (including school-aged children, women of reproductive age, and people whose livelihoods place them at higher risk) receive treatment in areas where prevalence exceeds a given threshold. The impact of MDA on disease transmission is monitored through surveillance, usually in sentinel sites, which are purposively selected on the basis of high baseline prevalence and/or ecological characteristics [39]. If surveillance indicates reduction in prevalence to below a given level, impact assessments are conducted following a predetermined number of MDA rounds, and the results are used to evaluate the need for ongoing MDA or changes to the programme. Since mapping surveys and impact assessments often target the same population groups and use similar diagnostics, (e.g.

stool samples for intestinal schistosomiasis and soil transmitted helminths [40] and clinical signs for onchocerciasis and trachoma [41]), they can be integrated within co-endemic regions to enable cost sharing and efficiency [40].

An important feature of MDA mapping surveys is that they are designed to estimate relatively high prevalence of target diseases. Baseline surveys designed to determine MDA requirements are powered to detect prevalence of around 1% for LF [42], 10% for schistosomiasis and trachoma [43, 44], and 20% for STH [39]. To obtain estimates to a reasonable degree of accuracy at these prevalence levels (often around 20% of the estimate), the WHO recommends testing 50-100 people per site in at least 1 site for LF; 50 children per site in at least 5 sites per ecological zone for schistosomiasis and STH; and around 50 children in 20-30 villages per district for trachoma [40]. These designs generally result in sample sizes ranging from 200- 1,500 per IU [45].

As control and elimination for PC-NTDs have progressed however, emerging evidence has suggested that more granular prevalence estimation will be required for monitoring and to ensure interventions are well targeted. For example, fine-scale surveys have revealed that schistosomiasis prevalence has not declined substantially in some villages within districts that have achieved high coverage of MDA for several years [46]. These persistent hotspots may not be identifiable from district-level prevalence surveys, and may require focused, intensified interventions. As such, micro-targeting of schistosomiasis MDA to sub-district level was recommended in the WHO 2030 Roadmap [47]. The Kenyan MoH recently implemented precision mapping to guide MDA for schistosomiasis and STH at the level of wards, a unit below sub-counties, which were the initial units of implementation. Results showed that the sub-county treatment strategy would have led to overtreatment in some wards, and undertreatment in a lower number, such that the total number of drugs needed would be lower with micro-targeting [48]. For LF, transmission assessment surveys (TAS) are conducted to validate elimination as a public health problem following at least five years of MDA, and when prevalence of microfilaremia in sentinel sites is less than 1% (or when prevalence by antigen testing is less than 2%) [49]. Evidence from some settings suggests that persistent LF transmission may be restricted to focal areas within districts which fail TAS [50], and that even districts passing TAS may contain residual transmission foci [51].

Authors have recommended that impact surveys (such as TAS) could be made more efficient by using geostatistical approaches to analyse survey data, accounting explicitly for geographical variation in risk within evaluation units [52]. Risk models for diseases with strong environmental drivers can be made more precise by including variables representing environmental, accounting for otherwise unexplained variation in prevalence. The expansion in the availability and accessibility of spatial datasets derived

12

from satellite imagery has vastly increased opportunities to develop such models in recent years [53]. Model-based geostatistics have been applied to prevalence analyses for a wide range of NTDs including (but not limited to) LF, loaiasis, onchocerciasis and STH [10, 52, 54-56].

4.2. Case detection and management interventions

Although LF and trachoma are classified as PC-NTDs, elimination strategies for both diseases also include case management elements. For LF, elimination as a public health problem depends on documentation of the number of lymphedema and hydrocele cases and provision of management services for these conditions in endemic and previously endemic districts [57]. There is no standard WHO guidance on approaches to estimate the number of lymphedema and hydrocele cases, but screening through community health workers (CHWs) is commonly used [58]. For trachoma, elimination requires reduction of late stage trachoma (trachomatous trichiasis; TT) unknown to the health system to below 0.2% prevalence in those aged 15 years and older, and evidence that incident cases can be managed through the primary healthcare system [59]. Trachoma baseline and impact evaluation surveys often measure the prevalence of active trachoma (trachoma follicular; TF) and TT simultaneously, but are powered to estimate the prevalence of TF and generally accept a lower precision in estimation of TT prevalence, which usually affects a lower proportion of the population [60]. In certain circumstances however, such as when TF prevalence does not meet the threshold for MDA but TT prevalence appears to be above the elimination threshold, TT-only surveys are used to evaluate the impact of surgical interventions and to estimate the backlog of cases requiring surgery. The WHO has provided specific guidance on the design of such surveys [60].

The success of NTD mapping and its integration across diseases by PC programmes has galvanised interest in the mapping of CM-NTDs, but surveys for these have been implemented much less extensively. Nonetheless, there are some successful examples of integrated NTD morbidity surveys. In Ethiopia, collaboration between teams including the Ethiopian Public Health Institute and academic partners enabled integration of nationwide surveys for LF morbidity and podoconiosis, which had been planned as standalone activities [61]. In this example, 129,959 individuals in 1,315 communities were surveyed for lymphedema over three months, and integration resulted in a reduction of costs to approximately half the combined budget estimates for the standalone surveys. The survey estimated a total podoconiosis prevalence of 4.04%, with marked geographical variation between regions. Results were presented to MoH stakeholders and informed the 2016 NTD Master Plan, which notably included recommendations for integrated MMDP for LF and podoconiosis [62]. The Ethiopia NTD Master Plan 2021 noted that the data-driven approach adopted by the previous plan had been successful in

reducing morbidity due to these two diseases, with MMDP services implemented in 150 of 345 districts targeted for podoconiosis and in all districts endemic for LF [63].

Subsequent statistical modelling of relationships between podoconiosis occurrence and environmental covariates allowed for estimation of risk across the entire country [64], and geostatistical modelling provided estimates of the total disease burden [65]. The environmental suitability model was also projected to predict risk in Cameroon, and predictions were used to inform a nationwide podoconiosis survey with cluster selection stratified by predicted suitability [66]. This survey identified higher prevalence of podoconiosis in clusters predicted suitable, implying a gain in survey efficiency compared to random sampling.

While the integrated survey for podoconiosis and LF morbidity provided important estimates of population burden of these diseases, it was not powered to evaluate fine-scale variation in their distributions. Buruli ulcer shows a highly focal distribution in endemic areas, apparently reflecting suitability for its causative agent, *Mycobacterium ulcerans* [14]. Active transmission foci may be targets for active case finding to promote early detection and management, or educational campaigns to raise awareness of the disease. On this basis, WHO recommends micro-mapping of BU, but specific guidance on the operationalisation of this approach is lacking [4]. A key challenge is identifying areas for targeting, which is difficult given the low prevalence of and focality of BU. Large sample sizes are required for precise estimation of the prevalence of rare diseases, and are further increased by disease focality, as individuals within primary sampling units (clusters) have similar levels of risk relative to the population. This is quantified as the intra-cluster correlation coefficient (ICC), and higher ICC values increase the sample size needed for precise prevalence and focal diseases. As a result, control programmes currently depend on routine surveillance data as the primary information source for targeting active case finding [36].

A recent survey in Liberia was designed to evaluate fine-scale variation in the geographical distribution of BU, LF morbidity, leprosy and yaws in a district co-endemic for these diseases. A total of 56,825 individuals were screened, identifying 0.9 cases of BU, 4.4 of leprosy, 2.6 of yaws, 17.5 LF lymphoedema and 8.5 of hydrocele per 10,000 people at district level [67]. All of these diseases were underrepresented by routine surveillance data from facility-based recording. However, the authors concluded that the costs of accurately mapping disease focality may outweigh the benefits of microtargeting disease-specific interventions in settings such as this [67]. This finding raises the question of how programmes should implement the WHO Roadmap recommendation for BU micro-mapping, given the high costs of population-based surveys.

14

For leprosy, the high burden of cases who remain undiagnosed, untreated, or lost to follow-up is a major challenge to elimination, and evidence suggests that an active approach to case detection will be required to meet global targets [68]. Innovative case-finding approaches to increase early case finding have also been recommended by the WHO [69]. When global elimination of leprosy was declared in the year 2000, investment in active case detection was scaled back considerably. This is considered to be the main reason for the dramatic fall in leprosy notifications since 2000 [74], supported by evidence of untreated cases identified in surveys in high-burden settings [82, 83].

There are a few examples of spatial targeting of active case finding for leprosy based on notified cases within high-incidence regions [37]. In the municipality of Mossoró in Brazil, which had a new case detection rate of 6.16 per 10,000 population in 2004, active case finding was targeted using a density map of patients' homes [70]. This identified 115 new leprosy cases, almost the same number as was diagnosed in the entire municipality in the previous year. With a total cost of £1,500, this targeted approach appeared cost-effective compared to a municipality-wide campaign in 2002, which had a total cost of £7,500, and identified 28 new patients. However, the initial notifications on which the campaigns were targeted may have been subject to bias resulting from geographical or sociodemographic differences in subpopulations' ability to reach a facility for diagnosis. The authors noted that the total annual notification rate had varied year on year with the number of primary health centres, training of health teams, the number of dermatologists, and the application of screening campaigns, all of which may have varied within the municipality.

4.3. The role of the primary healthcare system

A key difference between surveys conducted in the context of MDA and those for case management interventions is that in the former, cases are not treated at individual level, while in the latter, they require individual assessment, treatment and management, driving up the costs and complexity of surveys. For most NTDs controlled through case detection and management, treatment must be delivered by formally trained health workers in a health facility. Mapping surveys for NTDs are usually implemented by teams external to local facilities, making referrals challenging, and even when this is possible, facilities may not be able to provide the continuum of care required for chronic cases. In districts endemic for trachoma and LF, the surgical capacity of local health systems is often insufficient to address the burden of TT and hydrocele, so surgeries are often delivered through periodic community-based camps [71]. For trachoma this often necessitates exhaustive screening by CHWs to ensure that all cases are identified and linked to treatment [72], at a further cost to programmes. Successful treatment of BU and leprosy requires early treatment of infections, with ongoing disease management required for individual patients [73]. In the case of the targeted case finding activities in Mossoró, Brazil, the authors noted that this activity was feasible in the targeted areas since they contained local health facilities [70], highlighting the challenges of implementing this approach in communities without health facilities.

When implemented with broader goals of health system strengthening, case detection and management interventions can support local treatment capacity. The study in Mossoró delivered inservice training to facility doctors, which allowed 93% of the 104 cases found to be treated at primary health centres, compared to just 25% before the campaigns were implemented [70]. For a lasting impact however, continued investment into routine primary healthcare and refresher training beyond the timeframe of the research project would be required. Primary health system strengthening is also required for the sustainable control of PC-NTDs. For example, existing MDA schemes for schistosomiasis do not include children under five years old, and often use school-based administration to reach children aged five and older. These schemes have been said to leave a "double gap" comprising untreated pre-school age children and school-age children not in school. The infection puts these children at risk of stunting, wasting and early-onset morbidity due to the disease, and schistosomiasis morbidity management is lacking in many endemic countries [74]. The integration of treatment for PC-NTDs into local health services has also been recommended as a way to increase the equity of NTD treatment and to ensure access to treatment when MDA is scaled back or stopped [75].

4.4. The practicalities of using spatially-referenced data for decision

making

The use of data for decision making relies on decision makers being able to access, interpret, and trust epidemiological data. The national-level organisation and integration of PC programmes provides a central point for the reporting of baseline, intervention coverage, and monitoring data [39]. Under the WHO Regional Office for Africa (AFRO), the Expanded Special Project for Elimination of Neglected Tropical Diseases (ESPEN) was established as a framework to provide technical support and advice to Ministries of Health responsible for driving PC programmes [38]. Programmes are required to report annually to ESPEN on intervention coverage (measured as the proportion of the target population who received MDA in each round), with requests for medicines for MDA linked to these reports.

One objective of ESPEN was to improve the use of data for decision making in PC programmes. The project established an integrated regional database to collate epidemiological and intervention coverage data collected by national programmes. The ESPEN database now hosts a vast database of data on NTD prevalence, representing pre- and post-control settings, as well as surveillance sites where prevalence is monitored to assess changes in disease epidemiology. The platform allows programmes and partners to visualise and manipulate these data, intended to support decision

making around MDA by allowing programmes to identify where delivery strategies require modification or intensification, or where PC can be scaled back.

Challenges affecting the usability of these data for decision making have been identified. For example, the quality of treatment register data, collected by community drug distributors (CDDs) is limited by the fact that CDDs use paper forms for recording treatment numbers and have to collect large amounts of data, for which they may be insufficiently trained and supervised, and are often underpaid [76]. The low accuracy of treatment register data is recognised by NTD programme managers, and erodes programmes' ability to monitor progress in control and their readiness to use these data to inform targeted strategies. It also brings into question the use of MDA coverage rates as a tracer of health equity by the World Bank [29].

Another challenge to the use of data for decision making is the existence of disparate data management systems [76]. Increasing the interoperability of NTD databases and health information systems, with inbuilt analysis and visualisation functions, would enable more effective evaluation of data for decision making. With many countries adopting the DHIS2 system for routine surveillance of infectious diseases, and in some cases for monitoring health service delivery [77], this is likely to offer a suitable platform for integration and monitoring of NTD data in many countries. There are also examples of bespoke systems used by other disease control programmes. For example, malaria elimination programmes in several countries have used spatial decision support systems (SDSS), which integrate data sources and expert knowledge and automate incidence and risk modelling [78-80]. These systems offer a practical way for decision makers to access and use data and other information sources to guide strategic action at different levels. In Bhutan, the SDSS was used to support longlasting insecticidal net distribution, indoor residual spraying, and reactive case detection in two of the seven malaria-endemic districts [79]. An evaluation showed that while the system did not appear to improve intervention coverage, officials felt that the system facilitated reactive case detection activities and could support more accurate and timely public health responses, monitoring, and future planning and budgeting [79].

The skills and epidemiological support to interrogate, manipulate, visualise, and interpret surveillance data at the level of decision-making are equally important. Capacity building to strengthen these skills within NTD programmes is already a key priority for ESPEN and related WHO programmes [81], and could be expanded to include material relevant to targeting case finding and management interventions. For locally responsive interventions, it is important that capacity for data collection, analysis, and interpretation is built at local as well as national level, and that local decision makers have autonomy to design and implement public health strategies [82].

17

Unlike the data used for PC-programming, collected through population-level surveys and control activities, routine data on CM-NTDs are mostly collected at health facility level and recorded in paper or electronic patient registers. Usually, data are summarised before reporting, and summaries are used to calculate monitoring and evaluation metrics to measure progress towards control programme goals. However, as data in this form do not indicate where the case was likely to have been infected, these summaries may mask or distort spatial heterogeneity in disease burdens, particularly when facility catchments are large. This may also emerge as an issue for the PC-NTDs as MDA is scaled back and programmes transition towards facility-based test and treat strategies. To identify groups at higher risk of disease, resurgence, access challenges, and loss to follow-up, case-level data including patients' home and treatment locations and sociodemographic variables would need to be integrated within local health databases and analysed at fine-scale. These variables would include individual identifiers, which can help with patient and contact tracing, but are important to safeguard for confidentiality [76].

4.5. Conclusions

These examples of using data to target NTD interventions emphasise different approaches available and appropriate for different diseases. Determinant factors include the epidemiology of target diseases, the type of control implemented, the capacity of local primary care facilities, and resource availability. For diseases which are relatively common and treated at population level (notably the PC-NTDs), cross-sectional surveys provide data to estimate disease burden and target treatment to areas of highest prevalence. Cross-sectional surveys are more costly for CM-NTDs due to their low prevalence and focality, and the need to target interventions at finer scales. As such, their surveillance relies mostly on passive case detection. Since passive surveillance is prone to under-detection, active case detection activities can be necessary for elimination or control, but decisions about where to implement these activities are challenging. Nonetheless, the planning, monitoring and evaluation of MDA programmes provides principles that may be applied to inform the integration, scale-up, and targeting of case detection and management.

While prevalence surveys on the scale implemented for PC-NTDs are not feasible for mapping most CM-NTDs, sub-nationally representative prevalence surveys are useful in specific contexts, especially in the evaluation of routine surveillance data. Prevalence estimates can be compared to the rate of new cases detected through routine surveillance to indicate the rate of under-detection and identify facilities or zones which are under-performing. In such contexts, integrated surveys for CM-NTDs could improve efficiency, and as with integrated surveys for PC-NTDs, this is optimised when there is a common platform for diagnosis [67, 83, 84]. For diseases with strong environmental drivers, modelling

predictions may help to improve survey efficiency, or indicate areas suitable for the disease but without known patients, which may harbour unidentified cases.

Evidence-based decision-making relies on the availability of quality data accessible to decision makers, so will require strengthening of facility-based recording of NTD indicators, and their inclusion in national health information systems [76, 85]. However, interpretation of epidemiological data should be made cautiously and with reference to existing control activities and indicators of health service coverage. Further, the monitoring of access to CM-interventions by demography, geography, and socioeconomic characteristics could provide a useful metric of health equity [86]. This contextual information would help to ensure that decisions on where to intensify, adapt, or scale-down interventions and surveillance do not exacerbate existing health inequalities reflected by routine data, and inform more inclusive and equitable interventions. I explore these issues and potential solutions further in the next section, through a critical account of the publications within this portfolio.

5. Critical Account of Published Works

This portfolio of five research papers, published between 2018 and 2022, addresses ways in which routine surveillance data and complementary information sources can be used to inform equitable expansion and integration of case detection and management interventions against NTDs.

5.1. Describing data routinely available in Ghana

Portfolio publication: Simpson, H., Quao, B., Van Der Grinten, E., Saunderson, P., Ampadu, E., Kwakye-Maclean, C., Odoom, S., Biritwum, N.K., Pullan, R. and Cano, J., 2018. Routine surveillance data as a resource for planning integration of NTD case management. *Leprosy Review*, 89(3), pp.178-196.

In 2016, American Leprosy Missions launched the AIM (Accelerating Integrated Management) Initiative, a special programme focusing on partnerships with ministries of health [87]. It aimed to build capacity for data visualisation and use, integrate strategies and systems, target resources, and improve access to care for people affected by NTD morbidity [87]. The AIM Initiative supported this study, which was conducted in collaboration with their partners from the Ghana MoH.

Recognising the need for compilation of surveillance data as a first step to planning integration of MMDP for skin-NTDs, I worked with NTD control programme managers in Ghana to collate their surveillance data into a single electronic database, with skin-NTD morbidity summarised at community- and heath facility-levels. I interviewed programme staff to understand the recording and reporting processes and the flow of data through the surveillance systems. This collaboration provided an insight into programmatic priorities and the challenges they faced in collating, storing, and managing surveillance data. I aimed to map the geographical distribution of skin-NTD morbidity to identify suitable health facilities for the piloting of integrated MMDP, and then investigated rates of reported disease and the risk of more severe morbidity within and beyond 5km from primary healthcare facilities.

The epidemiological data were collected by national NTD control programmes as part of their routine surveillance and control activities. These included passive detection (for leprosy & BU), active case search in known hotspots (for BU), and exhaustive screening by CDDs during MDA for LF morbidity. After compiling the data into a single database, I georeferenced reported cases to community level using online tools. I obtained a list of georeferenced health facilities in Ghana [88] and measured the distance from each recorded and georeferenced case to the nearest health facility. I defined zones of higher and lower geographical accessibility using buffers of 5km radius around each mapped health facility, and estimated rates of recorded disease and more severe morbidity within these zones.

Overlap of skin-NTD morbidity was identified at many health facilities in the Upper West Region and in parts of Greater Accra (containing the capital city). However, I was concerned that the mapped morbidity reflected differences in case detection and recording, especially given the higher level of morbidity overlap in and around the main city. This was supported by the observation that rates of reported disease were higher in the population within 5km of a PHC facility, suggesting underdetection from populations with lower geographical access to health facilities. However, this relationship was reversed for leprosy and BU when non-georeferenced cases were assumed to occur in zones of low accessibility, suggesting that the association may have been due to bias in geo-location data, which was likely to have been less complete for remote locations. I also found that zones of lower accessibility had a higher proportion of leprosy cases with disability at diagnosis, suggesting more advanced disease, although this association was not observed for BU cases.

The completeness of disability grading data for leprosy cases was also lower in zones of low accessibility, further suggesting a burden of unrecorded morbidity in populations further from health facilities. This introduces a problematic bias for decisions around where to implement integrated MMDP services: targeting to known cases risks exacerbating health inequalities related to service accessibility. While cases known to the health system may be a good starting point for piloting of integrated MMDP, this work emphasises the need for strengthened case finding activities, especially in areas of lower accessibility, to inform an equitable MMDP strategy.

When this paper was published, I wrote that it would be 'critical to update these maps with current data' as surveillance and control activities continued. I anticipated that the mapping could be repeated each year by control programme staff within Ghana, following training in GIS. However, I now believe that it would be most appropriate for this mapping step to be automated within a health management information system. Working on the Skin Health Africa Research Project (SHARP), I learnt that the GHS has recently piloted and is in the process of rolling out a national patient information management system for electronic recording and reporting of health data. Supporting the functionality of this system, and its suitability for use at lower levels of the health system will be essential for its utility as a tool to support decision making.

How this paper has contributed to the field

This work was presented by Dr Paul Saunderson in 2015 in a breakout session on MMDP at the annual meeting of the Coalition for Operation Research on NTDs (COR-NTD). This meeting provides a forum through which researchers, the WHO, programme managers, implementers and donors meet to discuss current issues and research priorities in the field of NTDs. This paper appears to have helped shape the research agenda of the Global Partnership for Zero Leprosy (GPZL), established in 2018 and aligned to the WHO global leprosy programme and other large stakeholders and collaborations. A commentary describing the agenda of the GPZL in *Infectious Diseases of Poverty* [89] cited this paper as an example of implementation research strengthening the quality of leprosy data. Further papers

from GPZL sub-groups reference this work as an example of the use of GIS to link geography to health metrics [90, 91]. The report from the Subgroup on Epidemiologic Modelling and Socioeconomic Research recognises that the mapped data 'may not adequately reflect the true burden of disease because of the variable quality of case-finding', and raises the need for research to optimise surveillance methods to better capture the true burden of leprosy.

This paper has also been used as a reference for the distribution of skin-NTD cases in Ghana in papers on molecular biology and health services [92, 93]. Another paper cited this work as an example of using reported cases to identify potential hotspots for targeted post-exposure prophylaxis for leprosy, although this work did not acknowledge the potential bias introduced by variation in case detection methods [94].

Following the experience I gained from this work, I contributed to the AIM Initiative protocol for integrated mapping of NTDs, their data visualisation guidelines, and to strategic plans for integrated MMDP in Ghana and Ethiopia. I also delivered training in GIS to NTD programme staff in Nigeria and Myanmar, and produced interactive web-maps of reported cases skin-NTDs in Cameroon, Nigeria, and Myanmar.

5.2. Synthesising epidemiological data into evidence

Portfolio publication: Simpson, H., Deribe, K., Tabah, E.N., Peters, A., Maman, I., Frimpong, M., Ampadu, E., Phillips, R., Saunderson, P., Pullan, R.L. and Cano, J., 2019. Mapping the global distribution of Buruli ulcer: a systematic review with evidence consensus. *The Lancet Global Health*, 7(7), pp.e912-e922..

After my work mapping reported CM-NTDs in Ghana, I was interested in further exploring the impact of health system and surveillance factors on epidemiological indicators of disease occurrence. I was motivated to focus specifically on BU not only because it is typically under-diagnosed, but also because my reading of the literature revealed substantial outstanding questions around its epidemiology, including its reservoirs, transmission route, and environmental drivers [14]. Recognising that available data on BU provides at best, an under-representation of the occurrence of this disease, and at worst, a biased representation, I wanted to explore whether factors relating to under-detection and reporting could be used to evaluate the evidence for disease absence in areas with no cases known to the health system. Following the use of evidence-based consensus approaches to compile and grade evidence for the endemicity of diseases including dengue and the leishmaniases [95, 96], I developed a similar framework. Alongside data from literature review and surveillance data from countries I had worked with through the AIM Initiative, I additionally incorporated indicators of health system strength, and the endemicity of diseases sharing clinical features with BU, which might mask incident BU due to misdiagnosis.

Through this evidence consensus framework, each country was assigned a score representing evidence of BU presence or absence. The evidence consensus score consisted of three components: 1) endemicity status according to the WHO and GIDEON (the Global Infectious Diseases and Epidemiology Network); 2) a data quality score, representing the contemporariness of case detection and specificity of diagnostic techniques used; and 3) the total number of cases from the literature review and surveillance data. Each of these components was represented by a numerical score with higher positive numbers representing stronger evidence. Consensus presence was assigned if cases had been reported to WHO between 2002 and 2018; BU had been reported through GIDEON; at least one laboratory confirmed case had been recorded in peer-reviewed literature or by the national programme (for countries which had contributed surveillance data); and if a threshold number had been reported from all sources. I also applied a sub-national evidence consensus, grading the strength of evidence for BU in upper sub-national administrative areas in which the disease had been reported.

To represent evidence for absence, I planned to include an indicator of health system strength, and another representing the likelihood of BU cases being misdiagnosed as another endemic condition with similar clinical features to BU. For the first, I used a proxy measure: average per capita national health expenditure from 2011- 2015 from all financing sources, reported by the WHO [97]. This had been used as a proxy for surveillance strength in an evidence consensus exercise to refine the global limits of dengue [95]. The indicator of potential for misdiagnosis was based on the endemicity of skin diseases sharing common features with BU (nodules, plaques, oedema and ulcers). The misdiagnosis score was adjusted by the health system score to represent a lower likelihood of misdiagnosis in countries with higher health expenditure, assuming a higher diagnostic capacity. Consensus absence was assigned to countries with no evidence of BU cases reported through WHO or GIDEON, or in peerreviewed literature, no evidence of endemicity of the potential confounding diseases considered, and high health expenditure.

As well as defining countries and sub-national areas with strong evidence of BU cases, including 12 countries with consensus presence, the results highlighted countries where there was weaker evidence- perhaps with sporadic or historical cases. It also represented those with indeterminate evidence of BU- including Burkina Faso, Ethiopia, Honduras, Indonesia, Malawi, Malaysia, and Suriname, and those with weak evidence of absence- notably Niger, Eritrea, The Gambia, and Mauritania. These countries have lower health system strength and are endemic for diseases which present similarly to BU. Additionally, most were located near countries with evidence of BU. Taken together, this evidence suggests potential undiagnosed or misdiagnosed cases of BU. These countries could be targets for further investigation to determine BU endemicity. Suitable approaches might include a review of cases of skin diseases by an expert dermatologist from a BU-endemic country, or an integrated skin survey targeting other diseases but with support to test cases suspect for BU.

I explored several strategies to combine and weight evidence for BU endemicity and potential causes of under-detection, but ultimately presented results only for the final framework. A more transparent approach could have included a range of weights for different components of the framework, and mapped the variation in the evidence consensus scores generated. This would have allowed me to explore and express the influence of the various assumptions made, including potentially unreliable proxies such as the use of health expenditure to represent health system and surveillance strength. Additionally, integrating expert opinion from dermatologists with experience of working in the potentially endemic countries would also have added further nuance to the results presented.

How this paper has contributed to the field

This publication has become a contemporary reference paper on the distribution of BU, cited by over 40 diverse articles from the fields of epidemiology [98-100], genetics [101-104], immunology [103, 105-113], clinical medicine [114-116] and bioinformatics [117-119]. These contributions are

anticipated to support the development of new treatments for and vaccines against BU, and improved understanding of disease transmission and risk factors.

Through this work I also compiled large geographical datasets of observations of BU and its causative agent, *M. ulcerans*, reported in the literature, and made these datasets available via the LSHTM Data Compass [120]. Comparable datasets exist for the leishmaniases [121] but not for other CM-NTDS, making this a relatively unique contribution. These data have so far been downloaded 84 times. The article was also shared widely on <u>Twitter</u> to reach a large audience.

5.3. Modelling disease suitability using secondary data and evidence

consensus

Portfolio publication: Simpson, H., Tabah, E.N., Phillips, R.O., Frimpong, M., Maman, I., Ampadu, E., Timothy, J., Saunderson, P., Pullan, R.L. and Cano, J., 2021. Mapping suitability for Buruli ulcer at fine spatial scales across Africa: a modelling study. *PLoS neglected tropical diseases*, 15(3), p.e0009157. Having identified evidence for BU or its possible under-detection beyond the known endemic range, I wanted to investigate the application of environmental modelling to predict fine-scale suitability for the disease. I used an approach termed Species Distribution Modelling (SDM), or Ecological Niche Modelling (ENM), originally developed to predict the distribution of plant and animal species based on environmental correlates [53], and more recently developed to predict risk or suitability for infectious diseases. Examples of SDM for disease suitability include malaria [122], dengue [95], the leishmaniases [96], LF [9], and Human African Trypanosomiasis [123].

The data I used entailed 3 particular challenges for model development: 1) they were collected over a long period of time (approximately 60 years) and using different methods of confirmation (clinical diagnosis, microbiological confirmation, molecular confirmation); 2) there were very few absence points relative to the dataset size; and 3) they were biased due to geographical differences in surveillance and data collection activities. Such challenges are common to datasets compiled through non-standardised approaches, and particular approaches within the SDM framework are available to account for these issues. However, decisions about how these approaches are implemented can impact the accuracy of SDMs to varying extents [124]. A final challenge was the selection of candidate model predictors, especially given uncertainty about the precise transmission routes of BU. In this section I discuss the development and refinement of the BU suitability models with reference to these four challenges.

1. Variation in date of case detection and confirmation methods

In the evidence consensus work, I had considered how historical cases, and those without laboratory confirmation contributed relatively lower evidence of BU, and had assigned 'data quality 'scores based year of detection and method of confirmation (highest for PCR-confirmed cases, slightly lower for those confirmed by other methods, and lowest for those diagnosed on clinical grounds only; Figure 2).



Figure 2: Distribution of Buruli ulcer cases in Africa by method of diagnosis.

Country boundaries from the Database of Global Administrative Areas (GADM) [125]

I used these scores to weight data points included in the main model, so that older and non-PCR confirmed records had relatively less influence. I compared an initial model with cases weighted using this scheme to one in which all points had equal influence, and found that the relative weighting of occurrence points had a very small effect on the model (Figure 3).

Figure 3: Comparison of BU suitability models A) with occurrences weighted by the date and method of diagnosis; B) with occurrences weighted equally.



Country boundaries from the Database of Global Administrative Areas (GADM) [125]

2. Accounting for the lack of absence data

Since true absence of a disease or species from a study area is difficult to demonstrate with certainty, SDM often incorporate 'pseudoabsence points': datapoints systematically generated prior to model development and used as a comparator class. Different approaches are available to select pseudoabsences - at random; within a limited distance from presence points (spatial restriction); or based on environmental conditions (environmental restriction) [124]. Environmental restriction may be according to known limiting conditions [9] or simple environmental profiling methods [126]. The most suitable approach depends on the number of occurrence points, the size of the study area, and the modelling approach used [124, 127]. Authors often use the term 'pseudoabsence' interchangeably with 'background' to mean model negatives which either characterise the environment in areas where the disease or species is unlikely to occur, or capture available conditions across the study area [124]. I see a useful distinction between these definitions, so use 'pseudoabsence' to refer to model negatives intended to represent absence of the target disease or organism, and 'background' when no assumption is made about presence or suitability.

I used environmental restriction to limit the selection of pseudoabsence points to areas outside of the potentially suitable area for BU. I extracted the values of the selected predictor variables at occurrence locations and used the *biomod2* package [128] to produce a surface range envelope, delineating the area containing values between the 2.5th and 97.5th percentiles of these predictors. I then used the results of the evidence consensus [120] to bias selection of pseudoabsences towards areas with lower evidence for BU (Figure 4).



Figure 4: Pseudoabsence selection using environmental restriction and evidence consensus

Country boundaries from the Database of Global Administrative Areas (GADM) [125]

3. Biased distribution of occurrence points

I sought to address the biased distribution of occurrence points by generating background points with the same geographical bias as occurrence points, using a kernel density surface around occurrences (Figure 5). To prevent contamination with presence locations, I restricted selection to at least 5km from occurrence points, and up to 150km. I believe I developed this method independently, but between initial submission of this paper and peer review, a similar approach was used by another group and termed 'background thickening' [129].



Figure 5: Selection of background points representing geographical bias of occurrence points

Country boundaries from the Database of Global Administrative Areas (GADM) [125]

4. Covariate selection

In the initial models I ran, I used a wide set of candidate predictors representing climatic, topographical and hydrological conditions, human influence, and the modelled distributions of hemipteran families purported to act as reservoirs for *M. ulcerans* [130]. Peer reviewers suggested it would be more appropriate to limit covariates to those considered most relevant to the ecological niche of the bacterium or disease, so for the final models (Figure 6) I reselected 14 variables with reference to existing literature.





Country boundaries from the Database of Global Administrative Areas (GADM) [125]

The process of refining these models reinforced my appreciation of how methodological decisions at various stages of model development can result in remarkably different predictions from the same epidemiological dataset. Many of the models I produced performed well according to internal validation statistics, often the only indicators of performance published alongside model predictions. While there has been quite extensive (mostly theoretical) discussion of methods for selection of background/pseudoabsence data [124], ENM/SDM analyses often use automated background selection [131-133], without reporting how different comparator datasets impact results. I recognise that the model presented here is only one of a range of possible outcomes of an SDM approach to predicting BU suitability. The uncertainty shown in the results represents only the relative uncertainty imparted by variation in the results of different models included within the ensemble. In reality, there are numerous sources of uncertainty and error not captured by this measure. Firstly, the majority of records were geolocated remotely, introducing imprecision [134]. Most cases were georeferenced to their nearest mapped community, which is unlikely to represent their exact location. Even for precisely geolocated cases, these coordinates may not represent the location at which they were infected. Error was also introduced by the covariate datasets used, partly because of errors in remotely sensed or modelled covariates, and also because they may not align temporally with the dates of case occurrence. For example, the bioclimatic variables [135] represent average conditions between 1970 and 2000, which may have changed systematically since then. Additionally, the variable representing distance to the nearest dam was constructed based on dams recorded on OpenStreetMap in 2018. Cases may have occurred in a location where a dam was later constructed, and so be erroneously associated with this covariate.

How this paper has contributed to the field

I presented this work, alongside findings from Paper 2, at the annual meetings for COR-NTD and the American Society for Tropical Medicine and Hygiene in 2019. This paper has been referenced in studies of the transmission and prevalence of BU [67, 100] and a book chapter on BU surveillance [136]. After this work, I supervised a PhD student to develop national-level SDM of mycetoma suitability in Sudan [137], and contributed to a paper modelling suitability for podoconiosis in Africa [138].

I consider this paper complementary to Paper 2, providing a more refined representation of potential BU occurrence, and suggesting suitability in some countries with no previous cases of PCR-confirmed BU, including Sierra Leone and Equatorial Guinea. These results could be used to target case searches to areas where suitable conditions for BU are met, ideally prioritising the validation of areas predicted suitable but where cases are currently not reported. Using the predicted risk surfaces could potentially reduce costs compared to random surveys, as was achieved in a nationwide survey for podoconiosis [66].

5.4. National-level evidence consensus to target case finding activities

Portfolio publication: Simpson, H., Panicker, K.N., George, L.S., Cano, J., Newport, M.J., Davey, G. and Deribe, K., 2020. Developing consensus of evidence to target case finding surveys for podoconiosis: a potentially forgotten disease in India. *Transactions of The Royal Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene*, 114(12), pp.908-915.

Podoconiosis is a non-infectious tropical lymphedema, which presents similarly to filarial lymphedema but is caused by exposure to barefoot exposure to mineral particles in genetically susceptible populations [13]. In 2018 I started working with collaborators on the Global Atlas of Podoconiosis (GAP) project, based at Brighton and Sussex Medical School. This provided opportunity to further explore how surveillance data, disease suitability models, and other information could be used to target active case finding. The GAP included population-based surveys to estimate the burden and distribution of podoconiosis, and the data generated through these activities were used to develop SDM, building upon the one I developed for BU. Another aim of the GAP was to confirm endemicity status in countries where evidence for the disease was indeterminate, including India, where there was historical evidence of clusters of lymphedema in areas non-endemic for LF [139], but no active reporting [140]. There is a high burden of lymphedema in India as the country is endemic for LF, and we posited that incident cases of podoconiosis there might be misdiagnosed as filarial lymphedema.

Based on my experience of using evidence consensus to synthesise global evidence for BU occurrence, I considered this a suitable framework to combine evidence on suitability for the disease, the incidence of lymphedema, and the implementation of MMDP services. As the survey was planned to be led by researchers in India, and potentially scaled-up to a national programme for podoconiosis control if cases were confirmed, public health experts in India were engaged at an early stage. Clinicians and researchers in community medicine and public health from each of the 36 states and union territories in India were invited to a workshop at the Amrita Institute for Medical Sciences. At this workshop, I gave a presentation on risk factors for podoconiosis, and showed the results of extrapolating the environmental suitability model (based on surveys in Africa [138]) to India. We discussed the caveats and limitations of this model, including the fact that we could not be certain that the environmental associations of podoconiosis in Africa could be applied in India. We also discussed how environmental suitability would not necessarily equate to endemicity for a variety of reasons, focusing on the social determinants of the disease such as poverty, agricultural practices, and lack of shoe-wearing.

I then led a session in which representatives discussed the possibility of podoconiosis in districts within their states, based on environmental and social factors, the incidence of lymphedema, and the

implementation of MMDP for LF. Through discussions at the workshop, I developed a district-level evidence consensus framework to combine and score four relevant sources of information (Figure 7).





Through the evidence consensus framework, districts were assigned four component scores, reflecting A) environmental suitability (based on the extrapolated model), B) social determinants (using a multidimensional indicator of poverty from a secondary source [141]), C) cases of lymphedema known to the health system and D) implementation of interventions against LF (Figure 8). Unfortunately, there were substantial missing data on the distribution of cases known to the health system and the implementation of LF MMDP services. Service provision indicators might have been obtainable if we had collaborated with the National Vector Borne Disease Control Programme (NVBDCP), which is a consideration for similar approaches in the future.



Figure 8 A-D: data sources used in the evidence consensus to target podoconiosis survey in India.

District boundaries from the Database of Global Administrative Areas (GADM) [142]

The four component scores were summed to give an overall prioritisation score, and districts were then classified as high, medium, low, or very low priority for case search activities (Figure 9).

How this paper has contributed to the field

This study informed the selection of a district in south India for a podoconiosis survey which was implemented through the GAP project. No cases of podoconiosis were identified, providing strong evidence that the district is non-endemic for podoconiosis. However, other priority districts need to be investigated before the country can be considered non-endemic.



Figure 9: Categorisation of districts in India by priority for pilot surveys for podoconiosis.

District boundaries from the Database of Global Administrative Areas (GADM) [142]

This exercise demonstrated how primary and secondary data and expert opinion can be translated into evidence for strategic prioritisation of public health control activities. The participation of national public health experts throughout this project was key to ensuring engagement and leadership within the country. This is certainly an approach I would use again to engage local experts and encourage the use of data to inform decision making in public health programmes.

5.5. Development & evaluation of community-based surveillance tools

Portfolio publication: 5. Simpson H, Konan DO, Brahima K, Koffi Jd, Kashindi S, Edmiston M, et al. (2022) Effectiveness of community-based burden estimation to achieve elimination of lymphatic filariasis: A comparative cross-sectional investigation in Côte d'Ivoire. *PLOS Glob Public Health* 2(8): e0000760. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgph.0000760

Having previously undertaken research using secondary data, this project provided an opportunity for direct involvement with a programmatic case finding activity, and practical experience of primary data collection. Along with LSHTM supervisors, I worked with the Cote d'Ivoire NTD Programme (NTDP), sociologists at the Centre Suisse de Recherches Scientifiques en Côte d'Ivoire (CSRS), and the AIM Initiative. The aims were to evaluate the cost, coverage, equity, and reliability of community-based screening (CBS) for LF morbidity in Côte d'Ivoire.

As part of their LF elimination plan, the Ivorian NTDP had recently started implementing CBS, with CHWs and CDDs screening for leg swellings and scrotal swellings during MDA. We strengthened the existing approach by improving training materials, supervision, and recording forms, and decoupling it from MDA to reduce the task-load on enumerators. We evaluated the reliability and equity of this strengthened CBS strategy using a population-based prevalence survey employing eighteen purposetrained local nurses.

I developed training materials, paper-based recording forms and a two-stage training cascade to train 24 health area supervisors (stage 1) who then trained 220 CHWs and CDDs in their areas (stage 2) to implement CBS. Importantly, the first stage of the cascade included detailed and practical training on LF morbidity diagnosis and management, to ensure appropriate local care for cases identified through the screen. I designed electronic data collection forms for entry of data from the paper-based CDD recording forms and for mobile-based data collection during the survey. I also selected the clusters for the population-based prevalence survey, following the design of the WHO protocol for trachomatous trichiasis surveys [60]. During the data collection activities, I acted as field coordinator along with two CSRS sociologists, troubleshooting issues with the protocol, questionnaire forms, and diagnostic process. I also monitored and analysed the data.

The survey confirmed reliable prevalence estimation of lymphedema by CDDs, with a prevalence ratio (PR) of CDD-identified leg swellings to confirmed filarial lymphedema of 1.13 (95% confidence interval [CI] 0.97- 1.31). CDDs overestimated hydrocele prevalence (PR of 2.93 [95% CI 2.46- 3.55]), explained at least in part by the fact that the screening was not intended to distinguish hydrocele from hernia. The PR of scrotal swellings identified in CBS to those confirmed in the survey was 1.06 (95% CI 0.93- 1.21) indicating reliable estimation with reference to the case definition used. Based on re-examination of CDD-identified cases by nurses, we estimated 77.5% (95% CI 69.0- 84.6%) of leg

swellings identified by CDDs were due to filarial lymphedema; 34.0% (95% CI 27.3- 41.2%) of scrotal swellings identified by CDDs were due to filarial hydrocele; and 93.7% (95% CI 89.3- 96.7%) were confirmed to have scrotal swelling.

Household coverage by CDDs during CBS was 64.3% (95% CI 63.2–65.3%), which we considered a positive result with reference to the WHO target for effective coverage of LF MDA (65%) [49]. However, this level of coverage would not be sufficient for comprehensive case detection, suggesting that additional case identification activities may be required in areas shown to have higher prevalence. Household coverage varied substantially by health area (from 5.3% [95% CI 1.7-9.8%]- 100% [95% CI 95.0-100%]), being driven by variation between CDDs within these areas (Figure 10). The health areas with the highest proportions of households visited were small zones with a low number of CDDs. There were two outlying health areas in which the mean proportion of households visited was less than 20%. My personal interpretation of these low coverage rates is that they reflect a lower quality of supervision of CDDs: in one of these areas, the supervisory health worker was away during the enumeration activity, and in another, the supervisory health worker was newly recruited and relatively inexperienced.





Black bars show the mean proportion of households reporting visitation by CDDs within health areas, coloured points show the proportion of households reporting visitation by CDDs within CDD zones.

We found some evidence that households of certain minority languages and of lower socioeconomic status were less likely to have been visited, indicating potential to improve equity with adjustments to the approach. The overall direct financial cost of CBS was \$26,678.36 USD, the cost per case confirmed was \$69.62, and that per person targeted was \$0.17. With comparison to the costs of other NTD control activities, this appears scalable: the cost per person screened was comparable to the cost per person treated through MDA in African countries [143], and substantially lower than the cost per

person examined in the global trachoma mapping project (\$4.20 in Côte d'Ivoire in 2015) [144]. The cost per case found was also low with reference to published estimates from CBS for leprosy, ranging from \$72 (in Mali, 1999)- \$313 (in Nigeria, 2002) [145].

Designing, implementing, and analysing data from a population-based prevalence survey provided useful experience which I have since applied to other research projects in Ghana and Uganda. It also gave me an appreciation of the utility of this approach for the validation of routine surveillance data, balanced with the need to rationalise the implementation of such resource intensive activities. Although prevalence surveys do not provide externally representative prevalence data, they should be expected to provide evidence generalisable to other (similar) settings; for example by indicating whether an existing routine surveillance approach is suitable or requires modification. In design, the evaluation survey was analogous to MDA coverage surveys, which are expected to be undertaken by NTD programmes implementing MDA. As such, similar evaluations of CBS could be delivered by programmes for the monitoring and evaluation of LF MMDP activities.

How this paper has contributed to the field

Following this study, I engaged with the NTDP to support the scale-up of the CBS exercise to a national activity. This included presenting the findings and recommendations at two meetings with the programme, and contribution to reports on CBS activities. I hope the materials available online will support other programmes to implement CBS based on the recommendations emerging from this work [146]. As the activity is scaled up, we might expect a reduction in CBS coverage and the reliability of case identification without the involvement of an on-site field team for supervision. This question could be explored through a process evaluation at-scale. Scale-up will also require the development of a routine surveillance system for reporting of the data collected, which could be a further element to investigate through process evaluation.

This collaboration gave me an insight into how research embedded within national programmes can both support programmatic aims and be strengthened by expertise from within them. NTDP collaborators reviewed, edited and piloted training and data collection materials, delivered training to supervisors, and helped to supervise CDD training and CBS, ensuring that CBS was wholly delivered as a programmatic activity. Their involvement ensured an excellent level of engagement from the district health team, who selected fieldworkers for the project, ensured that personnel were replaced if they were unable to work, and provided advice on the implementation timeline. I feel this is a good model for collaborative research, and will carry this perspective forward into future projects.

39

6. Discussion

The current WHO Roadmap for Implementation, published in 2021, builds upon global experiences in NTD control since the 2020 Roadmap. It is founded on three pillars: i) to accelerate programmatic action; ii) to intensify cross-cutting approaches; and iii) to change operating models and culture to facilitate country ownership [147]. It cites two main conclusions from the decade of NTD control to 2020: that PC represents one of the 'best buys' in global public health, and that NTDs are 'critical tracers of equity in access to health services and progress towards UHC' [147]. In this final chapter, I discuss four factors which I consider to have enabled the high cost-effectiveness and the wide reach of MDA: evidence for action; financial support; engagement of community-health staff; and integration of planning and implementation. I consider the relevance of these factors and additional requirements for the next decade of control, particularly in relation to the scale-up of case detection and management interventions necessary to meet WHO Roadmap Goals by 2030.

6.1. Evidence for action

Control through MDA is delivered on the basis of evidence for disease endemicity from mapping surveys, with clear criteria for intervention when prevalence exceeds a certain threshold. The wide implementation of mapping surveys across the WHO African Region provided strong evidence for the burden of PC-NTDs and intervention requirements. Part of the reason for the underfunding of NTD case detection and management interventions is the paucity of data on the prevalence of NTD morbidity, which means the burden of disease is underestimated by existing data sources [34, 148, 149]. According to the WHO Roadmap, critical action on monitoring and evaluation is required to meet targets for nearly all diseases and disease groups. It is noted that 'the need for monitoring and evaluation is greater for diseases targeted for control, for which investment has been limited, particularly for mapping and understanding their burden' [4].

To demonstrate the need for further resource allocation, disease mapping has been described as a pressing issue for skin-NTD control, and integrated skin-NTD surveys have been recommended as a way to spread the costs of prevalence surveys for rare outcomes [147, 148]. An integrated survey for BU, leprosy, yaws, and lymphatic filariasis morbidity in Maryland County of Liberia showed that each of these diseases had a higher burden than indicated by routine data, but that out of all cases of skin disease identified, 91% were diagnosed with a non-skin NTD condition [67]. This is an important consideration for countries initiating integrated programmes with case finding activities, as the existing health system may not have capacity to treat and manage the full burden of disease identified. With this risk in mind, other authors have recommended strengthening of primary healthcare and NTD management as a starting point for integration [150]. These dual needs for

burden estimates to justify service expansion, and for guaranteed provision of immediate and potentially ongoing care for newly identified cases, represent a paradox facing programmes at the earliest stage of implementation of MMDP strategies.

A potential solution, or compromise, may be the development of district-level integrated strategies, starting with initial assessments to define implementation units as endemic or non-endemic for target diseases [83]. This is challenging with conventional methods used to define endemicity, namely population-based surveys or passive surveillance data. The former are typically too expensive to implement for rare diseases at district-level, and the latter prone to miss cases [67].

Modelled disease distributions as a source of information

Data available from surveillance and surveys can be used to model expected distributions of NTDs with important environmental drivers, adding a further source of information for implementation unit-level endemicity classifications. If unbiased survey information on disease prevalence were available at representative locations across potentially endemic areas, these data could be used to and quantify the effect of environmental covariates and spatial dependence, and predict prevalence or occurrence. In reality, such datasets are extremely sparse and mostly originate from accessible and known endemic areas, representing only narrow portions of the range of environmental conditions across areas of interest [151]. The fact that 'presence-only' datasets, such as disease notifications in epidemiology, or species occurrence records in ecology, tend to be larger and represent broader geographical regions and environmental conditions has motivated the development and use of presence-only approaches to species distribution modelling .

Representing background conditions

Most presence-only species distribution models rely on synthetic background or pseudoabsence points to supplement occurrence points and identify environmental predictors of occurrence. Background points are usually sampled in high numbers relative to presence points and often at random across the area of interest. They are intended to represent available environmental conditions in the area and do not necessarily represent absence, though are sometimes sampled in a way that means they are more likely to do so [152, 153]. Presence-absence data are often treated as presenceonly (discarding absences), used only for model evaluation, or excluded altogether [154, 155]. This simplifies model fitting as it allows a single model of observation to be applied to all available presence data, and overcomes the challenge of imperfect detection in surveys, but results in a loss of information [155]. Presence and background data can be modelled following aggregation to grid cells, which are then treated as presences and absences in spatially implicit regression-based or machine learning models [152]. These assume that spatially structed variation between grid cells is driven by environmental variables rather than spatial dependence between points. Alternatively, presence and background data can be modelled as point processes, which describe spatial variation in intensity of point patterns, with the optional inclusion of covariate data [156].

Challenges of modelling distributions from occurrence records

An important caveat to the use of presence-only data is that while the aim of species distribution modelling is to predict the relative likelihood of presence, occurrence records actually arise as a function of three probabilities: first that the target is present at that location, second that the location was surveyed/monitored, and third that it was detected if surveyed/monitored. Inference from presence-only models relies on assumptions 1) that sampling (or surveillance) is random or representative across the study area and 2) that the probability of detection is constant across the study area [155]. If these assumptions are violated, variation in sampling effort and detection probability cannot be disentangled from variation in suitability for the target of interest.

Approaches used to address spatial sampling bias in the field of ecology

Approaches to address these issues have been developed for species distribution modelling within the field of ecology. One approach is to generate background points with equivalent selection bias to the occurrence points [152]. This can be implemented by sampling background points from grid cells in which other species have been recorded, assuming that sampling bias is the same across species. Under this scheme, inaccessible locations do not contribute to prediction. This approach is termed target-group background selection, and has been shown to improve predictions for individual species distributions compared to random background selection [152]. However, some limitations of this method have been identified. It assumes all species have equal probability of being identified across locations, rather than allowing for preferential sampling of some species [157], and assumes equal sampling effort across accessible regions, rather than allowing this to vary [151]. For background selection, it makes no distinction between locations which are inaccessible versus those in which all species are rare [151] and is influenced by the richness of non-target species, as the probability of a grid cell being assigned as a presence or absence location depends on the number of other species recorded within it [153].

It has been argued that the inclusion of bias covariates can be a more informative way to address sampling bias, as this avoids the creation an artificial pattern of absences which can have a strong influence on predictions. If the spatial distribution of sampling effort is known and can be represented as covariates, then it can be modelled and controlled for. For example, if sampling intensity is highest near to roads, distance to a road can be fixed within models so that suitability is predicted in less accessible areas, rather than being constrained to locations close to roads [157].

More general issues have been identified with the use of grid-based approaches. Firstly, this requires that the spatial resolution of grid cells is set to a pre-determined value, which ignores fine-scale variation in the intensity of points and covariates within them. Secondly, it ignores the influence of spatial dependence between points, which can influence distributions of both species and diseases. Thirdly, these models are scale-dependent, meaning that their parameters are influenced by the spatial resolution used for modelling. As an alternative, several authors have explored the use of point process models to quantify differences in the relative intensity of point processes [151, 157]. These spatially explicit models still require a background sample for comparisons, but as these are not intended to adjust for sampling bias, they can be generated uniformly across the study area, removing the need for artificial sampling schemes and user decisions about how to implement these [157]. The spatial resolution need not be decided *a priori* but can be determined by identifying the point at which increasing it no longer improves the likelihood of estimates [157]. Further, as long as the number of background points is sufficient for model convergence, point process models are scale-independent, meaning that increasing the number of background points does not affect predictions [153].

Warton *et al* applied point process models to presence-only datasets of 62 plant species, including bias covariates for distance to roads and cities to represent a thinning process driven by sampling bias. They compared predictions to those from target-group background regression, using independent presence-absence datasets for evaluation [157]. The bias covariate point process models outperformed the target group background approach for the majority of species, but the relative improvement was smaller for species with few occurrence records, possibly because data sparsity made variation in sampling effort more difficult to quantify [157]. This approach depends on some knowledge of the nature of sampling bias and ability to represent it with spatial variables, and can be compromised when variation in sampling intensity is associated with the covariates used to predict occurrence, a situation considered to be "the rule rather than the exception" [155, 157].

An extension to this approach is offered by integrated distribution models, which use survey data and presence-only data to estimate and adjust for bias [154]. Integrated models can be fit to single [158] or multiple species [151]. Fithian *et al.* used a joint Poisson process model incorporating presence-only and presence-absence data for several species, enabling adjustment for sampling bias even for species with no presence-absence data available, if sampling bias was assumed to be the same as for other species [151]. It also improved estimates of covariates which were strongly associated with sampling

bias. This method allows sampling intensity to vary between species (sampling effort can be higher for species which are preferentially sampled), but assumes that sampling bias is proportional (in under-sampled areas, the relative proportion of unsampled individuals is the same across species). It is important to note that this approach assumes that presence–absence data are unaffected by bias, and that absence points are true absences, meaning that cases have not been missed or misidentified [151].

Applications for skin NTDs

In recent years, ecological niche models have been developed to predict the potential distribution of skin NTDs including BU, cutaneous leishmaniasis, LF, mycetoma, onchocerciasis and podoconiosis, as well as for their vectors where relevant [132, 137, 159-163]. The most common approach has been grid-based modelling exploiting maximum entropy modelling or ensembles of regression and machine learning approaches. Assumptions about sampling effort intensity are violated to varying extents by datasets across these diseases. For podoconiosis, occurrence data mostly originated from representative surveys conducted in a few countries. In this case, survey absence data were considered true absences, as targeted communities had been exhaustively screened for the disease, and diagnosis confirmed by expert clinicians [163]. Pseudoabsence points with lower weight were additionally generated in un-surveyed countries with low evidence of podoconiosis endemicity, based on a pre-existing evidence consensus exercise [164]. For the onchocerciasis model, survey absences were not treated as true absences due to the low sensitivity of diagnostic methods used. Instead, background points were sampled from polygon units which had not been surveyed, from locations within 100km of an occurrence point, which would have had an additional effect on balancing out sampling bias [162]. This was similar to the approach taken for the models of suitability for Buruli ulcer within this thesis [165].

These examples of ecological niche models for skin NTDs represent large-scale potential disease distributions, and may be most useful for identifying possibly-endemic areas where cases have not yet been identified. From a programmatic perspective, these may inform areas where diagnosis of target diseases should be considered when activities such as integrated case-finding are implemented. However, the limitations of grid-based approaches mean they do not accurately represent actual spatial processes and are restricted to estimation at the resolution used for modelling [166]. There is a risk that these models over-estimate the influence of predictors which vary over large scales, such as climate variables, and underestimate those which are more variable at finer scales. They may over-predict occurrence within climatically-suitable areas, but have limited ability to identify local heterogeneity in disease risk. This impacts their utility for informing interventions delivered at fine-

scales, especially case management interventions, as programmes would risk resource wastage if these were scaled-up throughout areas predicted endemic.

Point process modelling including bias covariates may provide a more informative way to identify finescale areas for targeted case-finding. Bias covariates considered for species distribution models, such as distance to roads, are likely to be suitable candidates for distribution models of skin NTDs as well. Distance to the nearest health centre may also be useful in this context, but the impact of this variable is likely to depend on the specific services delivered from different facilities. Strengthened surveillance and care provision in a limited number of health facilities and their catchment areas would lead to spatially biased identification of skin NTDs. It may be possible to represent this bias using spatial covariates such as distance to the nearest clinic offering dedicated skin NTD services, or to communities where case searches have been implemented. For BU, case reporting forms include the referral source and laboratory confirmation results, [167] which would provide information about where CHWs referred cases and where cases were confirmed, which may represent surveillance and detection strength. However, the use of these indicators for modelling depends on this information being compiled and shared by NTD control programmes, and so would not be possible for all endemic countries. Integrated models of survey and occurrence data may provide a means to quantify the impact of potential bias covariates. However, for skin NTDs it is generally less likely (than for trees) that survey absences represent true absence due to the low sensitivity of clinical diagnosis, and so these are a less suitable "gold standard".

Synthesising evidence from different sources

Combining and weighting of various sources of existing information through evidence consensus approaches may provide a useful strategy to prioritise districts for implementation of integrated skin-NTD strategies. Information sources may include existing data from routine surveillance or surveys, suitability predictions, and local expert opinion. Additional indicators of health system strength, service availability, and population vulnerability would facilitate a 'pro-poor' approach to programming, as recommended by the WHO in 2015 [28]. Taking a broader perspective on population health needs (beyond the evidence provided by available epidemiological data) would enable more inclusive and equitable scale up of services by targeting of strategies to areas of highest need.

Analogous to the monitoring of treatment coverage within PC programmes, service coverage evaluation should be a key component of MMDP service implementation. For LF elimination, countries are required to demonstrate that MMDP services are available in one health facility per endemic/ previously-endemic district. While this target should lead to increased service provision, district-level service availability is not sufficient to ensure accessibility, equitability, or quality of MMDP services. If NTD programmes are to be 'centred on the needs of people and communities' [147], these attributes should be considered for monitoring. Monitoring could evaluate rates of case detection, treatment completion, and patient outcomes to identify potential disparities by characteristics such as gender, geography, and socioeconomic status (at community if not individual level). This would provide evidence that could be used to tailor service provision to improve programme equitability or accessibility. However, as the addition of multiple recording requirements to routine consultations may impose a significant administrative burden on health staff, it would be important to develop the process through piloting prior to wider implementation.

6.2. Financial Support

Following the vast expansion of MDA since 2012, the number of people treated for at least one NTD reached 1 billion people in 2016, and is now declining as areas requiring treatment shrink [168]. This scale of delivery was enabled by donations of medicines from pharmaceutical companies, valued at \$17 billion in 2017 [168], and support for implementation from charitable organisations and bilateral donors [75]. As endemicity declines towards elimination targets, some donor organisations will seek to withdraw support for implementation, leaving a funding gap for activities such as surveillance and MMDP which will need to continue after transmission elimination targets are reached. Commitments to maintain these activities are considered important criteria for validation of LF elimination, since 'validation implies a potentially reversible state' [57].

The 'mission millions' of leprosy cases accumulated in the 20 years since global elimination illustrate the risk of large scale reductions in programmatic activities when elimination targets are reached and financial support drops [68]. While WHO recommends ongoing surveillance through transmission assessment surveys (TAS) for four years after reduction of LF prevalence to <1%, mathematical modelling suggests that resurgence may occur outside of this window, further demonstrating the need for continued vigilance to new infections [169]. Surveillance will inevitably need to be integrated as vertical programmes are scaled back, and there have been calls for disease-oriented donors to support integration by contributing to strengthening of primary healthcare systems [150]. Existing large-scale initiatives such as Demographic and Health Surveys may also offer appropriate platforms for integrated sero-surveillance to detect potential resurgence of infections [170]. However, there is limited guidance on appropriate strategies to detect low-prevalence and spatially heterogenous infections.

Resources for NTD case detection and management are extremely limited in comparison to those for MDA. NTDs are often considered low priority by national governments, and thus attract little domestic funding. Case detection and management interventions are often delivered through donor

programmes, which are limited in geographical coverage [171, 172]. In Liberia, government spending accounted for 1% of expenditure on NTDs in 2018- 2019, with the majority of activities financed through donors and in-kind support [171]. In the past, reliance on external funding resulted in fragmentation within the health system, with activities implemented according to donor priorities, and health worker salaries varying between programmes [173]. However, the establishment of a single health pool has given the Liberia MoH greater control over financing decisions for general health programmes since 2009 [171].

The NTD programme in Liberia is fully integrated and implements an Integrated Case Management Programme (ICMP) which consists of case searching, referral, diagnosis and management of skin-NTDs, primarily through Community Health Volunteers and Health Assistants. The ICMP directs donor funding to particular components of the ICMP according to need, supporting the third Roadmap pillar to 'increase country ownership' [4]. In the five counties where this programme was implemented, providing free management of NTDs, there were significant increases in the number of target NTDs diagnosed through the health system [174]. However, patients still faced high costs in accessing these services, reflecting general challenges which were exacerbated by stigma [171].

There is overall consensus that increased domestic financing will be required for sustainable NTD programmes and country ownership, but it is clear that external support remains essential in the short- to medium-term [4, 171, 175]. Strengthening of primary healthcare systems and mainstreaming of NTD services within them has long been recognised as a means to increase service accessibility, equity, and sustainability [176], and remains at the forefront of discussions on NTD policy [75], but will require substantial, systemic, and long term investment. Models such as the ICMP, which increase MoH autonomy and support mainstreaming of NTD services into primary healthcare via the community health system, seem to provide a viable route towards this goal. For the long term, broader investment to improve the quality and accessibility of primary healthcare in NTD-endemic countries will support progress towards UHC.

6.3. Engagement of community-based health staff

Community-based volunteers have been instrumental to the successes of MDA, particularly in enabling access to remote communities [38]. As members of the communities in which they work, and by providing a link to the primary healthcare system, these staff are also well placed to maximise the reach of surveillance and case management activities for NTD elimination. Community-based volunteers are responsible for enumerating suspect cases of LF morbidity during MDA in Burkina Faso, Ghana, Malawi and other countries, providing burden estimates required for validation of LF elimination [177]. Community-based approaches have also been demonstrated to be effective and/or cost-effective as a means to support self-care for people with lower limb disorder due to LF, podoconiosis or leprosy in a variety of settings including Ethiopia [178], [179], India [180, 181], and Nigeria [182].

However, programmes seeking to expand surveillance and case management functions through community health systems should consider workforce capacity to support additional roles. Evidence suggests that when included as an extra task on top of drug distribution, LF morbidity enumeration by CHWs tends to underestimate case numbers [183]. Anecdotal reports from CHWs indicate that the workload of these two roles is unmanageable, and that fixed-post strategies, often used for drug distribution from a central point such as a marketplace, are not suitable for registration of morbidity cases (personal communication with CHWs in Côte d'Ivoire). Paper 5 in this portfolio suggests that standalone community-based screening provides more reliable estimates of morbidity burden, which are essential to ensure sufficient funding for service provision [184]. There may be alternative adaptations to improve the efficiency of integrated MDA and screening approaches, such as increasing the number of days allowed per activity, or pairing of distributors and enumerators. Piloting and evaluation of such approaches under programmatic conditions would provide further evidence for reliable and scalable methods of LF morbidity estimation.

The sustainability of community-based approaches is also limited by high staff turnover rates, as community health staff are often informal workers paid via remuneration for specific activities. The formalisation of these cadres, for example by offering fully-paid salaries and pathways for progression, has been recommended to increase the sustainability of NTD control programmes [150], and as a means to improve access to primary health care in pursuit of UHC [185]. Community health workers have a vital role in achieving UHC, and PC coverage has been used as an indicator of health equity [186], helping to position NTDs as tracers of progress towards UHC [147]. There are issues with this indicator, however, including incomplete data, lack of information on individual treatment, and the fact that its availability declines with the scale-back of MDA [75].

Beyond engagement of CHWs, sustainable NTD elimination will also require strengthening of primary healthcare systems [150]. The provision of basic care for affected individuals is already incorporated into WHO targets for two NTDs (LF and trachoma) [147], and it has been proposed that monitoring of inclusion in these activities could provide more insightful measures of health equity than PC receipt, by emphasising more holistic, systemic, and long-term aspects of health care delivery [187]. However, under the minimum scale-up of services required to meet these targets (provision of services at one facility per district), care would remain difficult to access for many communities, and would likely be inequitable across the population in need. Taking the example of Bongouanou, where the study for

Paper 4 was conducted, an analysis by an MSc student I supervised showed that travel times to the district hospital were over 30 minutes (by walking or driving) for the majority of district population (Figure 11A). Under an alternative scenario in which LF services were made available at all health facilities in the district (Figure 11B), the majority of the population would be able to reach these services within 15 minutes' travel time.

Figure 11: Modelled geographical accessibility of services in Bongouanou Health District, Côte d'Ivoire, considering A) delivery from the district hospital or B) all health facilities in the district. C) shows the location of communities in the district.



Reproduced with permission from Mary Hahm, who conducted this analysis as part of her MSc in Control of Infectious Diseases at LSHTM.

A lack of services at primary healthcare level has been demonstrated as a cause of delayed presentation in several settings [188-190]. Decentralisation of diagnosis and treatment to the level of primary health facilities, or where appropriate, communities, could have a great impact on service accessibility and equity. A case study of community-based management of BU in Benin showed that 71% of all BU cases identified could be treated in the community [191], while in Côte d'Ivoire, a trial of community-based wound management (including BU and LF) demonstrated that 40% of wounds could be treated at community level [192]. These studies provide important evidence for the potential effectiveness of decentralisation, and suggest that this would reduce both costs to the health system, and patient costs of treatment. For wider uptake as strategy, however, estimates of cost-effectiveness and the affordability of such models will be required.

6.4. Integration of planning and implementation

The centring of cross-cutting approaches within the 2030 Roadmap demonstrates a paradigm shift in NTD control beyond MDA. Another important development is the grouping of skin-NTDs- including both PC- and CM-NTDs- as a key target for integration, with a cross-cutting target for 40 countries to adopt and implement integrated strategies against skin-NTDs [147]. The term 'skin-NTDs' was coined in 2016, in a paper which recommended integration of activities such as mapping, training, diagnosis and management, and community control [148]. Another published shortly after proposed a framework for integrated district-level strategies against skin-NTDs [83].

Calls for integration of skin-NTD activities have also posited wider potential benefits for skin-health in general, on the basis that patients presenting with skin symptoms in NTD-endemic areas would be more likely to be diagnosed with a common skin condition than an NTD [83]. A 2018 review further elaborated on these benefits, recommending training in general dermatology for health workers in areas endemic for skin-NTDs, while commenting on the scale of this challenge [84]. Dermatological expertise is limited in Africa - excluding North Africa, the rate of dermatologists per capita is currently less than 10 per million, and less than 1 per million in many countries [193]. Specialists are often concentrated, for example, in BU treatment and research facilities in Ghana, Côte d'Ivoire, Togo and Benin. Attrition of disease-specific expertise from within vertical disease control programmes is one perceived risk of integration of skin-NTD control, although with proper coordination and funding, the creation of regional training centres in dermatology could provide an opportunity for cross-border capacity building, curricula development, and collaborative research [83].

At the COR-NTD 2021 annual meeting, I contributed to sessions entitled How to Develop a Country Integrated Skin-NTD Strategy - Identifying and Filling the Research Gaps. These were intended to generate solutions to support progress towards the adoption of integrated skin NTD strategies, as targeted by the 2030 Roadmap. As part of the panel, I discussed integrated approaches to mapping disease distributions and overlaps, alongside colleagues who discussed integration of MMDP, integration of MDA, and social sciences respectively. We summarised the outputs of these meetings in a viewpoint paper [194], which included six research priorities to support the development of integrated skin NTD strategies. Among these were evaluations of case detection platforms, integrated surveys, integrated MMDP, and the impact of integration on CHWs. Providing evidence of the costeffectiveness of integration was considered a priority across all aspects of integration. During the process of peer review, one reviewer commented that research activities can add an extra burden of work to programmes, which is an important consideration for researchers aiming to support programmatic activities. For operational research to be truly beneficial to programmes, projects should aim to include programmatic staff as co-researchers and incorporate their priorities from the inception stage. Programmatic priorities (for example, capacity development for implementation) may deviate from research-focused objectives (such as measuring effect sizes), which may add complexity to research studies, but represents an opportunity for projects to maximise real-world benefits and the potential for future uptake.

The Skin Health Africa Research Project (SHARP) is developing interventions to improve access to care for people living with skin-NTDs. One of these is a district-level package of interventions to improve early diagnosis and affordable care for NTDs in Ghana, in a study district selected on the basis of recorded cases of BU, leprosy, and yaws, and having not been previously targeted for NTD case finding

51

and management interventions [190]. The intervention was developed through a collaborative process informed by qualitative and quantitative baseline research, and with input from NTD programme directors within the Ghana Health Service (GHS) and district health staff from the study district [195]. Originally intended to improve outcomes for 'severe and stigmatising skin diseases', it was developed into an integrated, decentralised skin strategy, reflecting GHS stakeholder priorities for broader service improvements. Compared to district-level integrated MDA, this package is considerably more complex, with the health facility component alone including clinical training on general dermatological principles and disease-specific pathways for 37 health staff; weekly clinics; provision of medical materials; strengthening of information systems; and supporting patient self-care. The intervention will be delivered through the local health workforce, including the district health team, healthcare workers, and CHWs, and is intended to be manageable for the district to implement without major reliance on externally funded NGOs and research teams. The evaluation of this intervention will include analysis of its impact, equity, cost-effectiveness and affordability, as well as a process evaluation to assess the fidelity of implementation to the planned strategy and views of the target patient groups. This will provide much needed evidence to inform the scale-up of integrated strategies for skin-NTD control, and is also likely to shed light on the technical complexity and financial costs of providing comprehensive, equitable, high quality, and accessible skin-health services through local health systems. However, even if the intervention proves feasible and cost-effective, it may not be scalable to all endemic regions under current resource availability.

6.5. Conclusions

The provision of accessible and equitable case management services for NTDs represents a significant opportunity to reduce the morbidity associated with these diseases and to improve the health of affected people and communities. Scale-up of case management interventions is required for elimination of certain NTDs and would also support attainment of UHC by strengthening primary health systems.

As NTDs requiring case management are often focal, and become increasingly so as their incidence declines, geographical targeting of interventions seems to offer an attractive prospect. At present however, NTD data are too limited to guide equitably targeted implementation, and the costs of reliably mapping their focality may outweigh the benefits [67]. Instead of targeting disease-specific services to fine-scales, strengthening of broader skin-health services would ensure a wider benefit.

Delivery of basic interventions at community level has great potential to increase referral rates, promote early diagnosis before progression to severe disease, and support patients to complete treatment and continue self-care [171, 191, 192, 196]. This potential would be maximised by

formalisation and support of the community health workforce [67]. Such initiatives would need also to be complemented by parallel strengthening of services and capacity building at primary healthcare and district levels to ensure appropriate management of more complex cases.

Further development of information and surveillance systems, and ongoing epidemiological monitoring would help to demonstrate the impact of strengthened service provision on detection rates and patient outcomes, while embedded research could demonstrate the costs and cost-effectiveness of interventions. Such programmes will be costly, however (even if cost-effective), and may not be affordable for many endemic countries given multiple competing health priorities [197]. Increased financial support both from national governments and external partners will therefore be critical for the scale-up of services required.

Ministries of health will also have to make decisions about where skin heath programmes are initially implemented. With this in mind, and given links to UHC, prioritisation rather than targeting may be a more constructive concept for decision makers. Beyond surveillance data, programmes could consider using a wider range of data for decision support to inform initial expansion of services. These may include predicted disease suitability in combination with expert local opinion, information on existing health service provision, and indicators of population vulnerability, to enable targeting to areas of greatest need. I believe this is a just and necessary approach to end the neglect of disadvantaged communities, which persists despite decades of scientific research and programmatic implementation focused on neglected tropical diseases.

Published Works

- Simpson, H., Quao, B., Van Der Grinten, E., Saunderson, P., Ampadu, E., Kwakye-Maclean, C., Odoom, S., Biritwum, N.K., Pullan, R. and Cano, J., 2018. Routine surveillance data as a resource for planning integration of NTD case management. *Leprosy Review*, 89(3), pp.178-196.
- Simpson, H., Deribe, K., Tabah, E.N., Peters, A., Maman, I., Frimpong, M., Ampadu, E., Phillips, R., Saunderson, P., Pullan, R.L. and Cano, J., 2019. Mapping the global distribution of Buruli ulcer: a systematic review with evidence consensus. *The Lancet Global Health*, 7(7), pp.e912-e922.
- Simpson, H., Tabah, E.N., Phillips, R.O., Frimpong, M., Maman, I., Ampadu, E., Timothy, J., Saunderson, P., Pullan, R.L. and Cano, J., 2021. Mapping suitability for Buruli ulcer at fine spatial scales across Africa: a modelling study. *PLoS neglected tropical diseases*, 15(3), p.e0009157.
- Simpson, H., Panicker, K.N., George, L.S., Cano, J., Newport, M.J., Davey, G. and Deribe, K., 2020. Developing consensus of evidence to target case finding surveys for podoconiosis: a potentially forgotten disease in India. *Transactions of The Royal Society* of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene, 114(12), pp.908-915.
- Simpson, H., Konan, D.O., Brahima, K., Koffi, J.D.A., Kashindi, S., Edmiston, M., Weiland, S., Halliday, K., Pullan, R.L., Meite, A. and Koudou, B.G., 2022. Effectiveness of community-based burden estimation to achieve elimination of lymphatic filariasis: a comparative cross-sectional investigation in Côte d'Ivoire. *PLoS global public health*, 2(8), p.e0000760.

Applicant contributions to publications and underlying research within portfolio.

 Simpson, H., Quao, B., Van Der Grinten, E., Saunderson, P., Ampadu, E., Kwakye-MacLean, C., Odoom, S., Biritwum, N.K., Pullan, R. and Cano, J., 2018. <u>Routine surveillance data as a</u> <u>resource for planning integration of NTD case management</u>. *Leprosy Review*, *89*(3), pp.178-196

HS assembled a database of surveillance data from three disease-control programmes, remotely georeferenced the locations of all recorded cases, planned and implemented analyses, produced figures and tables, and drafted the manuscript.

 Simpson, H., Deribe, K., Tabah, E.N., Peters, A., Maman, I., Frimpong, M., Ampadu, E., Phillips, R., Saunderson, P., Pullan, R.L. and Cano, J., 2019. <u>Mapping the global distribution of Buruli</u> <u>ulcer: a systematic review with evidence consensus</u>. *The Lancet Global Health*, 7(7), pp.e912e922

HS planned and conducted all stages of the literature review, designed the evidence consensus framework and synthesised data, produced figures and tables, and drafted the manuscript.

 Simpson, H., Tabah, E.N., Phillips, R.O., Frimpong, M., Maman, I., Ampadu, E., Timothy, J., Saunderson, P., Pullan, R.L. and Cano, J., 2021 <u>Mapping suitability for Buruli ulcer at fine</u> <u>spatial scales across Africa: A modelling study</u>. *PLoS neglected tropical diseases*, 15(3), p.e0009157

HS implemented the analyses, produced figures and tables and drafted the manuscript.

 Simpson, H., Panicker, K.N., George, L.S., Cano, J., Newport, M.J., Davey, G. and Deribe, K., 2020. <u>Developing consensus of evidence to target case finding surveys for podoconiosis: a</u> <u>potentially forgotten disease in India</u>. *Transactions of The Royal Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene*, 114(12), pp.908-915

HS co-facilitated a workshop through which the evidence consensus framework was developed and through which local experts shared surveillance data and their knowledge of local epidemiology of lymphoedema. HS co-synthesised data through the evidence consensus framework, produced figures and tables and drafted the manuscript.

5. **Simpson**, H., Konan, D., Brahima, K., Koffi, J d'A, Kashindi, S., Rogers, E., Edmiston, M., Weiland, S., Halliday, K., Pullan, R., Meite, A., Guibehi, BK. & Timothy, J. 2022. Evaluation of a scalable, community-based case finding strategy to achieve elimination of lymphatic filariasis as a public health problem in Côte d'Ivoire

HS led the development of data collection tools and training materials, jointly co-ordinated the data collection activities, designed and implemented all analyses, produced figures and tables, and drafted the manuscript.

Signed: Hope Simpson (Applicant)Date: 14/01/2022Signed: Dr. Rachel Pullan (PI papers 1, 2, 3 & 5)Date: 21/01/2022Signed: Dr. Kebede Deribe (PI paper 4)Date: 21/01/2022

7. References

- 1. Hotez, P., et al., *The Neglected Tropical Diseases: The Ancient Afflictions of Stigma* and Poverty and the Prospects for their Control and Elimination, in In: Pollard AJ, Finn A, editors. Hot topics in infection and immunity in children III. New York: Kluwer Academic/Plenum Publishers. 2006.
- 2. Hamill, L.C., et al., *People are neglected, not diseases: the relationship between disability and neglected tropical diseases.* Transactions of The Royal Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene, 2019. **113**(12): p. 829-834.
- 3. Hotez, P.J., et al., *Control of Neglected Tropical Diseases*. N Engl J Med, 2007. **357**: p. 1018-1027.
- 4. World Health Organization, *Accelerating work to overcome the global impact of neglected tropical diseases: a roadmap for implementation.* 2012.
- Ramaiah, K. and E.A. Ottesen, *Progress and impact of 13 years of the global programme to eliminate lymphatic filariasis on reducing the burden of filarial disease*. PLoS Negl Trop Dis, 2014. 8(11): p. e3319.
- 6. Colley, D.G., et al., *Human schistosomiasis*. The Lancet, 2014. **383**(9936): p. 2253-2264.
- 7. Dicey, A.V., *The law of the constitution*. Vol. 1. 2013: Oxford University Press.
- 8. World Health Organization, *Preventive chemotherapy in human helminthiasis*. *Coordinated use of anthelminthic drugs in control interventions: a manual for health professionals and programme managers*. 2006: World Health Organization.
- 9. Cano, J., et al., *The global distribution and transmission limits of lymphatic filariasis: past and present.* Parasites & vectors, 2014. **7**(1): p. 1-19.
- Zouré, H.G., et al., The geographic distribution of onchocerciasis in the 20 participating countries of the African Programme for Onchocerciasis Control:(2) precontrol endemicity levels and estimated number infected. Parasites & vectors, 2014. 7(1): p. 1-15.
- 11. O'Hanlon, S.J., et al., *Model-based geostatistical mapping of the prevalence of Onchocerca volvulus in West Africa.* PLoS neglected tropical diseases, 2016. **10**(1): p. e0004328.
- 12. Lai, Y.-S., et al., *Spatial distribution of schistosomiasis and treatment needs in sub-Saharan Africa: a systematic review and geostatistical analysis.* The Lancet infectious diseases, 2015. **15**(8): p. 927-940.
- 13. Davey, G., F. Tekola, and M.J. Newport, *Podoconiosis: non-infectious geochemical elephantiasis.* Transactions of the Royal Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene, 2007. **101**(12): p. 1175-1180.
- 14. Röltgen, K. and G. Pluschke, *Epidemiology and disease burden of Buruli ulcer: a review*. Res Rep Trop Med, 2015. **6**: p. 59-73.
- Samy, A.M., et al., *Mapping the potential risk of mycetoma infection in Sudan and South Sudan using ecological niche modeling*. PLoS neglected tropical diseases, 2014.
 8(10): p. e3250.
- 16. Pullan, R.L., et al., *Global numbers of infection and disease burden of soil transmitted helminth infections in 2010.* Parasites & vectors, 2014. **7**: p. 1-19.
- 17. Marks, M., et al., *Challenges and key research questions for yaws eradication*. The Lancet infectious diseases, 2015. **15**(10): p. 1220-1225.
- 18. Blok, D.J., et al., *Mathematical modelling of leprosy and its control.* Advances in Parasitology, 2015. **87**: p. 33-51.

- 19. Montenegro, A.C., et al., *Spatial analysis of the distribution of leprosy in the State of Ceara, Northeast Brazil.* Mem Inst Oswaldo Cruz, 2004. **99**(7): p. 683-6.
- 20. Hay, R., et al., *Scabies in the developing world–-its prevalence, complications, and management.* Clinical microbiology and infection, 2012. **18**(4): p. 313-323.
- 21. Organization, W.H., *Lymphatic filariasis: managing morbidity and preventing disability*, in *An aide-mémoire for national programmes managers*. 2013.
- 22. Uniting to Combat NTDs, London Declaration on Neglected Tropical Diseases. 2012.
- 23. Webster, J.P., et al., *The contribution of mass drug administration to global health: past, present and future.* Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, 2014. **369**(1645): p. 20130434.
- 24. Organization, W.H., *Regional Strategic Plan for Neglected Tropical Diseases in the African Region 2014–2020*, R.O.f. Africa, Editor. 2013.
- 25. World Health Organisation, *Morbidity management and disability prevention in lymphatic filariasis.* 2013.
- 26. Walsh, D.S., et al., *Leprosy and Buruli ulcer: similarities suggest combining control and prevention of disability strategies in countries endemic for both diseases.* 2015.
- 27. Colglazier, W., *Sustainable development agenda: 2030.* Science, 2015. **349**(6252): p. 1048-1050.
- 28. World Health Organisation, *Investing to overcome the global impact of neglected tropical diseases: third WHO report on neglected diseases.* 2015.
- 29. Organization, W.H., *Tracking universal health coverage: first global monitoring report*. 2015: World Health Organization.
- 30. Ichimori, K., et al., *Global programme to eliminate lymphatic filariasis: the processes underlying programme success.* PLoS Negl Trop Dis, 2014. **8**(12): p. e3328.
- 31. Keating, J., et al., *Lymphatic filariasis and onchocerciasis prevention, treatment, and control costs across diverse settings: a systematic review.* Acta tropica, 2014. **135**: p. 86-95.
- 32. van Veen, N.H., et al., *Cost-effectiveness of interventions to prevent disability in leprosy: a systematic review.* PLoS One, 2009. **4**(2): p. e4548.
- 33. Klis, S., et al., *Compliance with antimicrobial therapy for Buruli ulcer*. Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy, 2014. **58**(10): p. 6340.
- 34. Mavinga Phanzu, D., et al., Burden of Mycobacterium ulcerans disease (Buruli ulcer) and the underreporting ratio in the territory of Songololo, Democratic Republic of Congo. PLoS Negl Trop Dis, 2013.
- 35. Klis, S., et al., *Clinical outcomes of Ghanaian Buruli ulcer patients who defaulted from antimicrobial therapy*. Tropical Medicine & International Health, 2016. **21**(9): p. 1191-1196.
- 36. Barogui, Y.T., et al., *Contribution of the community health volunteers in the control of Buruli ulcer in Bénin.* PLoS Neglected Tropical Diseases, 2014. **8**(10): p. e3200.
- 37. Khundi, M., et al., *Effectiveness of spatially targeted interventions for control of HIV, tuberculosis, leprosy and malaria: a systematic review.* BMJ open, 2021. **11**(7): p. e044715.
- 38. Deribe, K., et al., *African regional progress and status of the programme to eliminate lymphatic filariasis: 2000–2020.* International Health, 2021. **13**(Supplement_1): p. S22-S27.
- 39. Organization, W.H., *Helminth control in school-age children: a guide for managers of control programmes.* 2011: World Health Organization.
- 40. World Health Organization, *Guide for Mapping Neglected Tropical Diseases Amenable to Preventive Chemotherapy in the African Region*. 2014 (revised 2018).

- 41. Baker, M., et al., *Mapping, monitoring, and surveillance of neglected tropical diseases: towards a policy framework.* The Lancet, 2010. **375**(9710): p. 231-238.
- 42. Organization, W.H., *Progress report 2000-2009 and strategic plan 2010-2020 of the global programme to eliminate lymphatic filariasis: halfway towards eliminating lymphatic filariasis.* 2010: World Health Organization.
- 43. Organization, W.H., *WHO guideline on control and elimination of human schistosomiasis.* 2022.
- 44. Organization, W.H., *Report of the 17th meeting of the WHO alliance for the global elimination of blinding trachoma, Geneva, 22-24 April 2013.* 2013, World Health Organization.
- 45. Harding-Esch, E.M., et al., *Population-based prevalence survey of follicular trachoma and trachomatous trichiasis in the Casamance region of Senegal.* BMC Public Health, 2018. **18**(1): p. 1-11.
- 46. Kittur, N., et al., *Defining persistent hotspots: areas that fail to decrease meaningfully in prevalence after multiple years of mass drug administration with praziquantel for control of schistosomiasis.* The American journal of tropical medicine and hygiene, 2017. **97**(6): p. 1810.
- 47. Malecela, M.N. and C. Ducker, *A road map for neglected tropical diseases 2021–2030*. 2021, Oxford University Press.
- 48. Kepha, S., et al., *Precision mapping of schistosomiasis and soil-transmitted helminthiasis among school age children at the coastal region, Kenya.* PLOS Neglected Tropical Diseases, 2023. **17**(1): p. e0011043.
- 49. Organization, W.H., *Monitoring and epidemiological assessment of mass drug administration in the global programme to eliminate lymphatic filariasis: a manual for national elimination programmes.* 2011.
- 50. Shamsuzzaman, A., et al., *The significant scale up and success of Transmission Assessment Surveys' TAS'for endgame surveillance of lymphatic filariasis in Bangladesh: One step closer to the elimination goal of 2020.* PLoS neglected tropical diseases, 2017. **11**(1): p. e0005340.
- 51. Eigege, A., et al., *Criteria to stop mass drug administration for lymphatic filariasis have been achieved throughout Plateau and Nasarawa states, Nigeria.* The American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene, 2017. **97**(3): p. 677.
- 52. Johnson, O., et al., *Model-Based Geostatistical methods enable efficient design and analysis of prevalence surveys for Soil-Transmitted helminth infection and other neglected tropical diseases*. Clinical Infectious Diseases, 2021. **72**(Supplement_3): p. S172-S179.
- 53. Elith, J. and J.R. Leathwick, *Species distribution models: ecological explanation and prediction across space and time*. Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution and Systematics, 2009. **40**(1): p. 677-697.
- 54. Fronterre, C., et al., *Design and analysis of elimination surveys for neglected tropical diseases*. The Journal of infectious diseases, 2020. **221**(Supplement_5): p. S554-S560.
- 55. Diggle, P.J., et al., Spatial modelling and the prediction of Loa loa risk: decision making under uncertainty. Annals of Tropical Medicine & Parasitology, 2007. 101(6): p. 499-509.
- 56. Zouré, H.G.M., et al., *The geographic distribution of Loa loa in Africa: results of large*scale implementation of the Rapid Assessment Procedure for Loiasis (RAPLOA). PLoS neglected tropical diseases, 2011. **5**(6): p. e1210.
- 57. Organization, W.H., Validation of elimination of lymphatic filariasis as a public health problem. 2017.

- 58. Corley, A.G., C.P. Thornton, and N.E. Glass, *The role of nurses and community health workers in confronting neglected tropical diseases in sub-Saharan Africa: a systematic review.* PLoS neglected tropical diseases, 2016. **10**(9): p. e0004914.
- 59. Organization, W.H., *Report of the 3rd Global scientific meeting on trachoma: Baltimore, USA, 19-20 July, 2010.* 2010, World Health Organization.
- 60. Strategic and Technical Advisory Group for Neglected Tropical Diseases Working Group on Monitoring and Evaluation, W.H.O., *Design and validation of a trachomatous trichiasis-only survey*. 2017.
- 61. Deribe, K., et al., *Integrated morbidity management for lymphatic filariasis and podoconiosis, Ethiopia.* Bulletin of the World Health Organization, 2017. **95**(9): p. 652.
- 62. Federal Democratic Republic of Ethiopia Ministry of Health, *Second Edition of National Neglected Tropical Diseases Master Plan.* 2016.
- 63. Ministry of Health of Ethiopia, *The Third National Neglected Tropical Diseases Strategic Plan 2021-2025*. 2019.
- 64. Deribe, K., et al., *Mapping and modelling the geographical distribution and environmental limits of podoconiosis in Ethiopia.* PLoS neglected tropical diseases, 2015. **9**(7): p. e0003946.
- 65. Deribe, K., et al., *Estimating the number of cases of podoconiosis in Ethiopia using geostatistical methods*. Wellcome open research, 2017. **2**.
- 66. Deribe, K., et al., *Mapping the geographical distribution of podoconiosis in Cameroon using parasitological, serological, and clinical evidence to exclude other causes of lymphedema*. PLoS neglected tropical diseases, 2018. **12**(1): p. e0006126.
- 67. Timothy, J.W., et al., *Quantifying Population Burden and Effectiveness of Decentralized Surveillance Strategies for Skin-Presenting Neglected Tropical Diseases, Liberia.* Emerging infectious diseases, 2022. **28**(9): p. 1755-1764.
- 68. Smith, W.C., et al., *The missing millions: a threat to the elimination of leprosy*. PLoS Negl Trop Dis, 2015. **9**(4): p. e0003658.
- 69. Organization, W.H., *Global leprosy: update on the 2012 situation*. Weekly Epidemiological Record= Relevé épidémiologique hebdomadaire, 2013. **88**(35): p. 365-379.
- 70. de Souza Dias, M.C.F., G.H. Dias, and M.L. Nobre, *The use of Geographical Information System (GIS) to improve active leprosy case finding campaigns in the municipality of Mossoró, Rio Grande do Norte State, Brazil.* Leprosy review, 2007. 78(3): p. 261-269.
- 71. Sanders, A.M., et al., *Piloting a trachomatous trichiasis patient case-searching approach in two localities of Sudan*. Transactions of the Royal Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene, 2020. **114**(8): p. 561-565.
- 72. Karimurio, J., et al., *Use of validated community-based trachoma trichiasis (TT) case finders to measure the total backlog and detect when elimination threshold is achieved: a TT methodology paper.* The Pan African Medical Journal, 2017. **27**.
- 73. Maymone, M.B., et al., *Leprosy: Treatment and management of complications*. Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology, 2020. **83**(1): p. 17-30.
- 74. Bustinduy, A.L., et al., *Expanding praziquantel (PZQ) access beyond mass drug administration programs: paving a way forward for a pediatric PZQ formulation for schistosomiasis.* PLoS neglected tropical diseases, 2016. **10**(9): p. e0004946.
- 75. Chami, G.F. and D.A. Bundy, *More medicines alone cannot ensure the treatment of neglected tropical diseases*. The Lancet Infectious Diseases, 2019. **19**(9): p. e330-e336.
- 76. Grubin, L., et al., *Improving data use for decision making by neglected tropical disease program teams: eight use cases.* Gates Open Research, 2021. **5**.

- 77. Bhattacharya, A.A., et al., *Quality of routine facility data for monitoring priority maternal and newborn indicators in DHIS2: a case study from Gombe state, Nigeria.* PloS one, 2019. **14**(1): p. e0211265.
- 78. Kelly, G.C., et al., *Malaria elimination: moving forward with spatial decision support systems*. Trends in parasitology, 2012. **28**(7): p. 297-304.
- 79. Wangdi, K., et al., *Development and evaluation of a spatial decision support system for malaria elimination in Bhutan*. Malaria journal, 2016. **15**: p. 1-13.
- 80. Daash, A., et al., *Geographical information system (GIS) in decision support to control malaria-a case study of Koraput district in Orissa, India.* Journal of Vector Borne Diseases, 2009. **46**(1): p. 72.
- 81. World Health Organisation. *Report of the Fourth Meeting of NTD National Programme & Data Managers from the WHO African Region*. 2021.
- 82. Theron, G., et al., *Data for action: collection and use of local data to end tuberculosis.* The Lancet, 2015. **386**(10010): p. 2324-2333.
- 83. Mitja, O., et al., *Integrated Control and Management of Neglected Tropical Skin Diseases*. PLoS Negl Trop Dis, 2017. **11**(1): p. e0005136.
- 84. Chandler, D.J. and L.C. Fuller, *The skin—A common pathway for integrating diagnosis and management of NTDs.* Tropical medicine and infectious disease, 2018. **3**(3): p. 101.
- 85. AbouZahr, C. and T. Boerma, *Health information systems: the foundations of public health.* Bulletin of the World Health Organization, 2005. **83**: p. 578-583.
- 86. Fitzpatrick, C., et al., *Monitoring equity in universal health coverage with essential services for neglected tropical diseases: an analysis of data reported for five diseases in 123 countries over 9 years.* The Lancet Global Health, 2018. **6**(9): p. e980-e988.
- 87. American Leprosy Missions. *AIM Initiative*. 17/03/2023]; Available from: <u>https://leprosy.org/aim-initiative/</u>.
- 88. Maina, J., et al., *A spatial database of health facilities managed by the public health sector in sub Saharan Africa*. Scientific data, 2019. **6**(1): p. 1-8.
- 89. Steinmann, P., et al., *A comprehensive research agenda for zero leprosy*. Infectious Diseases of Poverty, 2020. **9**(1): p. 1-7.
- 90. Blok, D., *GPZL reports on research priorities*. Leprosy Review, 2019. **90**(3): p. 237-289.
- 91. Waller, L. and N. Dharmshaktu, *Global Partnership for Zero Leprosy Research Agenda Working Group Subgroup on Operational Research.*
- 92. Kwain, S., et al., *Digyaindoleacid A: 2-(1-(4-Hydroxyphenyl)-3-oxobut-1-en-2-yloxy)-3-(1H-indol-3-yl) propanoic Acid, a Novel Indole Alkaloid.* Molbank, 2019. **2019**(3): p. M1080.
- 93. Atinbire, S.A., et al., *The development of a capacity-strengthening program to promote self-care practices among people with lymphatic filariasis-related lymphedema in the Upper West Region of Ghana.* Infectious Diseases of Poverty, 2021. **10**(1): p. 1-8.
- 94. Taal, A., et al., *Determining target populations for leprosy prophylactic interventions: a hotspot analysis in Indonesia.* BMC infectious diseases, 2022. **22**(1): p. 1-12.
- 95. Brady, O.J., et al., *Refining the global spatial limits of dengue virus transmission by evidence-based consensus.* 2012.
- 96. Pigott, D.M., et al., *Global distribution maps of the leishmaniases*. Elife, 2014. **3**: p. e02851.
- 97. Organization, W.H., Global Health Expenditure Database.
- 98. Boccarossa, A., et al., *A combined field study of Buruli ulcer disease in southeast Benin proposing preventive strategies based on epidemiological, geographic, behavioural and environmental analyses.* PLOS Global Public Health, 2022. **2**(1): p. e0000095.

- 99. Collinson, S., et al., *Barriers to Buruli ulcer treatment completion in the Ashanti and Central Regions, Ghana.* PLoS neglected tropical diseases, 2020. **14**(5): p. e0008369.
- 100. Muleta, A.J., et al., Understanding the transmission of Mycobacterium ulcerans: A step towards controlling Buruli ulcer. PLoS Neglected Tropical Diseases, 2021. **15**(8): p. e0009678.
- Manry, J., et al., Genome-wide association study of Buruli ulcer in rural Benin highlights role of two LncRNAs and the autophagy pathway. Communications biology, 2020. 3(1): p. 1-10.
- 102. Manry, J., Human genetics of Buruli ulcer. Human Genetics, 2020. 139(6): p. 847-853.
- 103. Kawashima, A., et al., *Genome-wide screening identified SEC61A1 as an essential factor for mycolactone-dependent apoptosis in human premonocytic THP-1 cells.* PLoS neglected tropical diseases, 2022. **16**(8): p. e0010672.
- 104. Manry, J., et al., *Genome-wide association study of Buruli ulcer in rural Benin.* medRxiv, 2019: p. 19012096.
- 105. Hall, B.S., et al., The one that got away: how macrophage-derived IL-1β escapes the mycolactone-dependent Sec61 blockade in Buruli ulcer. Frontiers in immunology, 2021. 12.
- 106. Hsieh, L.T.-H., et al., Aberrant stromal tissue factor localisation and mycolactonedriven vascular dysfunction, exacerbated by IL-1β, are linked to fibrin formation in Buruli ulcer lesions. PLoS Pathogens, 2022. 18(1): p. e1010280.
- 107. Koné, M.G.-R., G.S. Dembélé, and N. Ziao, *Theoretical Characterization of the Hydrogen Bonding Interaction Sites of Mycolactone C Using the ONIOM Method.* Mediterranean Journal of Chemistry, 2021. **11**(2): p. 185-193.
- 108. Ishwarlall, T.Z., et al., *The search for a Buruli Ulcer vaccine and the effectiveness of the Bacillus Calmette–Guérin vaccine*. Acta Tropica, 2022: p. 106323.
- 109. Chavda, V.P., et al., *Vaccination efforts for Buruli Ulcer*. Expert Review of Vaccines, 2022(just-accepted).
- 110. Mangas, K.M., et al., *Vaccine-specific immune responses against mycobacterium ulcerans infection in a low-dose murine challenge model.* Infection and Immunity, 2020. **88**(3): p. e00753-19.
- 111. Mangas, K.M., et al., *High antibody titres induced by protein subunit vaccines against Buruli ulcer using Mycobacterium ulcerans antigens Hsp18 and MUL_3720.* bioRxiv, 2020.
- 112. Strong, E.J. and S. Lee, *Targeting autophagy as a strategy for developing new vaccines and host-directed therapeutics against mycobacteria*. Frontiers in microbiology, 2021.
 11: p. 614313.
- 113. Demangel, C., *Immunity against Mycobacterium ulcerans: the subversive role of mycolactone*. Immunological Reviews, 2021. **301**(1): p. 209-221.
- 114. Phillips, R.O., et al., *Rifampicin and clarithromycin (extended release) versus rifampicin and streptomycin for limited Buruli ulcer lesions: a randomised, open-label, non-inferiority phase 3 trial.* The Lancet, 2020. **395**(10232): p. 1259-1267.
- 115. Walsh, D.S., F. Portaels, and W.M. Meyers, *Buruli ulcer: Advances in understanding Mycobacterium ulcerans infection.* Dermatol Clin, 2011. **29**(1): p. 1-8.
- 116. Van Der Werf, T.S., et al., *Pharmacologic management of Mycobacterium ulcerans infection*. Expert review of clinical pharmacology, 2020. **13**(4): p. 391-401.
- 117. Sur, S. and B. Pal, *Comprehensive review of Mycobacterium ulcerans and Buruli ulcer from a bioinformatics perspective–what have we learnt?* Acta Biologica Szegediensis, 2021. 2(65): p. 233-245.

- 118. Rouse, W.B., et al., Analysis of RNA sequence and structure in key genes of Mycobacterium ulcerans reveals conserved structural motifs and regions with apparent pressure to remain unstructured. bioRxiv, 2021.
- Mohinani, T., A. Saxena, and S.V. Singh, *In Silico Prediction of Epitopes in Virulence Proteins of Mycobacterium ulcerans for Vaccine Designing*. Current genomics, 2021. 22(7): p. 512.
- 120. Simpson, H., et al., *Mapping the global distribution of Buruli ulcer: a systematic review with evidence consensus.* The Lancet Global Health, 2019. **7**(7): p. e912-e922.
- 121. Pigott, D.M., et al., *Global database of leishmaniasis occurrence locations*, 1960–2012. Scientific Data, 2014. **1**(1): p. 1-7.
- 122. Cohen, J.M., et al., *Rapid case-based mapping of seasonal malaria transmission risk for strategic elimination planning in Swaziland*. Malaria journal, 2013. **12**(1): p. 1-12.
- 123. Dicko, A.H., et al., *Using species distribution models to optimize vector control in the framework of the tsetse eradication campaign in Senegal.* Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 2014. **111**(28): p. 10149-10154.
- 124. Barbet-Massin, M., et al., *Selecting pseudo-absences for species distribution models: how, where and how many?* Methods in ecology and evolution, 2012. **3**(2): p. 327-338.
- 125. The Database of Global Administrative Areas (GADM).
- 126. Thuiller, W., et al., *BIOMOD–a platform for ensemble forecasting of species distributions*. Ecography, 2009. **32**(3): p. 369-373.
- 127. Senay, S.D., S.P. Worner, and T. Ikeda, *Novel three-step pseudo-absence selection technique for improved species distribution modelling*. PloS one, 2013. **8**(8): p. e71218.
- 128. Wilfried Thuiller, D., R. Engler, and F. Breiner, *biomod2: Ensemble Platform for Species Distribution Modeling*. R package version, 2017. **3**: p. 3-15.
- 129. Vollering, J., et al., Bunching up the background betters bias in species distribution models. Ecography, 2019. **42**(10): p. 1717-1727.
- 130. Cano, J., et al., *Modelling the spatial distribution of aquatic insects (Order Hemiptera) potentially involved in the transmission of Mycobacterium ulcerans in Africa.* Parasites & vectors, 2018. **11**(1): p. 1-16.
- 131. Machado, G., et al., *Mapping changes in the spatiotemporal distribution of lumpy skin disease virus*. Transboundary and emerging diseases, 2019. **66**(5): p. 2045-2057.
- Chavy, A., et al., *Ecological niche modelling for predicting the risk of cutaneous leishmaniasis in the Neotropical moist forest biome*. PLoS neglected tropical diseases, 2019. 13(8): p. e0007629.
- 133. Coro, G., A global-scale ecological niche model to predict SARS-CoV-2 coronavirus infection rate. Ecological modelling, 2020. **431**: p. 109187.
- 134. Graham, C.H., et al., *The influence of spatial errors in species occurrence data used in distribution models.* Journal of Applied Ecology, 2008. **45**(1): p. 239-247.
- 135. WorldClim, Global Climate data.
- 136. Timothy, J.W., R.L. Pullan, and R.R. Yotsu, *Methods and Approaches for Buruli Ulcer Surveillance in Africa: Lessons Learnt and Future Directions*. Mycobacterium ulcerans, 2022: p. 87-102.
- 137. Hassan, R., et al., *Modelling the spatial distribution of mycetoma in Sudan*. Transactions of The Royal Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene, 2021: p. trab076.
- 138. Deribe, K., et al., *Predicting the environmental suitability and population at risk of podoconiosis in Africa.* PLoS neglected tropical diseases, 2020. **14**(8): p. e0008616.
- 139. Russel, S. and C.K. Rao, *Prevalence of nonfilarial elephantiasis in selected towns in India*. 1983.

- 140. Deribe, K., et al., *Mapping the global distribution of podoconiosis: Applying an evidence consensus approach*. PLoS neglected tropical diseases, 2019. **13**(12): p. e0007925.
- 141. Alkire, S., C. Oldiges, and V. Kanagaratnam, *Multidimensional poverty reduction in India 2005/6–2015/16: Still a long way to go but the poorest are catching up. 2020.*
- 142. *Global Administrative Areas Database. Second-level administrative divisions, India.* 2012.
- 143. Goldman, A.S., et al., *National mass drug administration costs for lymphatic filariasis elimination*. PLoS neglected tropical diseases, 2007. **1**(1): p. e67.
- 144. Trotignon, G., et al., *The cost of mapping trachoma: Data from the Global Trachoma Mapping Project.* PLoS neglected tropical diseases, 2017. **11**(10): p. e0006023.
- 145. Glennie, M., et al., *Active case detection methods for crusted scabies and leprosy: A systematic review.* PLoS neglected tropical diseases, 2021. **15**(7): p. e0009577.
- 146. Simpson, H.e.a., *Study toolkit for: Effectiveness of community-based burden estimation to achieve elimination of lymphatic filariasis: a comparative cross-sectional investigation in Côte d'Ivoire*. 2022: Harvard Dataverse.
- 147. World Health Organization, *Ending the neglect to attain the sustainable development goals: a road map for neglected tropical diseases 2021–2030.* 2020, World Health Organization.
- 148. Engelman, D., et al., *Opportunities for integrated control of neglected tropical diseases that affect the skin.* Trends in parasitology, 2016. **32**(11): p. 843-854.
- 149. Basel, P., et al., *Leprosy incidence: six years follow-up of a population cohort in Bangladesh.* Lepr Rev, 2014. **85**(3): p. 158-69.
- 150. Ortu, G. and O. Williams, *Neglected tropical diseases: exploring long term practical approaches to achieve sustainable disease elimination and beyond*. Infectious diseases of poverty, 2017. **6**(1): p. 1-12.
- 151. Fithian, W., et al., *Bias correction in species distribution models: pooling survey and collection data for multiple species.* Methods in Ecology and Evolution, 2015. **6**(4): p. 424-438.
- Phillips, S.J., et al., Sample selection bias and presence-only distribution models: implications for background and pseudo-absence data. Ecological applications, 2009. 19(1): p. 181-197.
- 153. Renner, I.W., et al., *Point process models for presence-only analysis*. Methods in Ecology and Evolution, 2015. **6**(4): p. 366-379.
- 154. Isaac, N.J., et al., *Data integration for large-scale models of species distributions*. Trends in ecology & evolution, 2020. **35**(1): p. 56-67.
- 155. Yackulic, C.B., et al., *Presence-only modelling using MAXENT: when can we trust the inferences?* Methods in Ecology and Evolution, 2013. **4**(3): p. 236-243.
- 156. Warton, D.I. and L.C. Shepherd, *Poisson point process models solve the" pseudoabsence problem" for presence-only data in ecology.* The Annals of Applied Statistics, 2010: p. 1383-1402.
- 157. Warton, D.I., I.W. Renner, and D. Ramp, *Model-based control of observer bias for the analysis of presence-only data in ecology*. PloS one, 2013. **8**(11): p. e79168.
- 158. Dorazio, R.M., Accounting for imperfect detection and survey bias in statistical analysis of presence-only data. Global Ecology and Biogeography, 2014. **23**(12): p. 1472-1484.
- 159. Simpson, H., et al., *Mapping suitability for Buruli ulcer at fine spatial scales across Africa: A modelling study.* PLoS neglected tropical diseases, 2021. **15**(3): p. e0009157.

- 160. Peterson, A.T. and J. Shaw, *Lutzomyia vectors for cutaneous leishmaniasis in Southern Brazil: ecological niche models, predicted geographic distributions, and climate change effects.* International journal for parasitology, 2003. **33**(9): p. 919-931.
- 161. Slater, H. and E. Michael, *Predicting the current and future potential distributions of lymphatic filariasis in Africa using maximum entropy ecological niche modelling*. PLoS One, 2012. **7**(2): p. e32202.
- 162. Cromwell, E.A., et al., *Predicting the environmental suitability for onchocerciasis in Africa as an aid to elimination planning*. PLoS Negl Trop Dis, 2021. **15**(7): p. e0008824.
- 163. Deribe, K., et al., *Predicting the environmental suitability and population at risk of podoconiosis in Africa.* PLoS Negl Trop Dis, 2020. **14**(8): p. e0008616.
- 164. Simpson, H., et al., *Developing consensus of evidence to target case finding surveys for podoconiosis: a potentially forgotten disease in India.* Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg, 2020. **114**(12): p. 908-915.
- 165. Simpson, H., et al., *Mapping suitability for Buruli ulcer at fine spatial scales across Africa: A modelling study.* PLoS Negl Trop Dis, 2021. **15**(3): p. e0009157.
- 166. Melo-Merino, S.M., H. Reyes-Bonilla, and A. Lira-Noriega, *Ecological niche models* and species distribution models in marine environments: A literature review and spatial analysis of evidence. Ecological Modelling, 2020. **415**: p. 108837.
- 167. Omansen, T.F., et al., *Global epidemiology of Buruli ulcer*, 2010–2017, and analysis of 2014 WHO programmatic targets. Emerging infectious diseases, 2019. **25**(12): p. 2183.
- 168. NTDs, U.t.C., Ending Neglected Tropical Diseases: A gateway to Universal Health Coverage: Fifth progress report on the London Declaration on NTDs
- 2017.
- 169. Prada, J.M., et al., *Elimination or resurgence: modelling lymphatic filariasis after reaching the 1% microfilaremia prevalence threshold.* The Journal of Infectious Diseases, 2020. **221**(Supplement_5): p. S503-S509.
- 170. Hatherell, H.-A., et al., *Sustainable surveillance of neglected tropical diseases for the post-elimination era*. Clinical Infectious Diseases, 2021. **72**(Supplement_3): p. S210-S216.
- 171. Smith Jr, J.S., et al., *Financing care for Severe Stigmatizing Skin Diseases (SSSDs) in Liberia: challenges and opportunities*. International Journal for Equity in Health, 2022.
 21(1): p. 160.
- 172. Phillips, R.O., et al., *Development of an integrated and decentralised skin health strategy to improve experiences of skin neglected tropical diseases and other skin conditions in Atwima Mponua District, Ghana.* PLOS Global Public Health, 2024. **4**(1): p. e0002809.
- 173. Hughes, J., A. Glassman, and W. Gwenigale, *Innovative financing in early recovery: The Liberia health sector pool fund.* Center for Global Development, 2012. **1**: p. 30.
- 174. Kollie, K., et al., *Donor reliance and the impact on neglected tropical disease programme delivery: reflections and solutions for change from programme management perspectives.* International Health, 2021. **13**(4): p. 376-378.
- Huang, X.X., H. Toure, and G. Biswas, *Resource tracking for neglected tropical disease programmes: the first step for developing a sustainable financing strategy.* Transactions of The Royal Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene, 2021. 115(2): p. 179-181.
- 176. Gyapong, J.O., et al., *Integration of control of neglected tropical diseases into health-care systems: challenges and opportunities.* The Lancet, 2010. **375**(9709): p. 160-165.

- 177. Stanton, M.C., et al., *Developing a community-led SMS reporting tool for the rapid assessment of lymphatic filariasis morbidity burden: case studies from Malawi and Ghana*. BMC Infect Dis, 2015. **15**: p. 214.
- 178. Hounsome, N., et al., *Economic assessment of a community-based care package for people with lower limb disorder caused by lymphatic filariasis, podoconiosis and leprosy in Ethiopia.* Transactions of The Royal Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene, 2020. **114**(12): p. 1021-1034.
- 179. Negussie, H., et al., Lymphoedema management to prevent acute dermatolymphangioadenitis in podoconiosis in northern Ethiopia (GoLBeT): a pragmatic randomised controlled trial. The Lancet Global health, 2018. 6(7): p. e795e803.
- 180. Narahari, S.R., et al., *Community level morbidity control of lymphoedema using self care and integrative treatment in two lymphatic filariasis endemic districts of South India: A non randomized interventional study.* Transactions of the Royal Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene, 2013. **107**(9): p. 566-577.
- 181. Stillwaggon, E., et al., *Economic costs and benefits of a community-based lymphedema management program for lymphatic filariasis in Odisha State, India.* The American journal of tropical medicine and hygiene, 2016. **95**(4): p. 877.
- Akogun, O. and J. Badaki, Management of adenolymphangitis and lymphoedema due to lymphatic filariasis in resource-limited North-eastern Nigeria. Acta tropica, 2011. 120: p. S69-S75.
- 183. Smith, E.L., et al., *Lymphatic filariasis morbidity mapping: a comprehensive examination of lymphoedema burden in Chikwawa district, Malawi*. Transactions of the Royal Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene, 2014. **108**(12): p. 751-758.
- 184. Simpson, H.N., et al., *Effectiveness of community-based burden estimation to achieve elimination of lymphatic filariasis: a comparative cross-sectional investigation in Cote dIvoire.* medRxiv, 2022.
- 185. Organization, W.H., *Community health worker programmes in the WHO African region: Evidence and options—Policy brief.* 2017.
- 186. Center for International Earth Science Information Network CIESIN Columbia University, et al., *Global Rural-Urban Mapping Project, Version 1 (GRUMPv1):* Urban Extents Grid. 2011, NASA Socioeconomic Data and Applications Center (SEDAC): Palisades, NY.
- 187. Fitzpatrick, C. and D. Engels, *Leaving no one behind: a neglected tropical disease indicator and tracers for the Sustainable Development Goals.* International health, 2016. 8(suppl_1): p. i15-i18.
- 188. Van de Weg, N., et al., *Explanatory models and help-seeking behaviour of leprosy patients in Adamawa State, Nigeria.* Leprosy review, 1998. **69**: p. 382-389.
- 189. VASAN, T., Social aspects of leprosy: a case study in Zaria, Northern Nigeria.
- 190. Daniel Okyere, E.K.O., Lucy Owusu, Yaw Ampem Amoako, Ruth Dede Tuwor, Eric Koka, Jacob Novignon, Adwoa Asante-Poku, Ishaque Mintah Siam, Emmanuel Kyei Afreh, Abigail Agbanyo, Richard Adjei Akuffo, Solomon Gyabaah, Michael Ntiamoah Oppong, Katherine Elizabeth Halliday, Hope Simpson, Joseph Timothy, Michael Marks, Maria Zuurmond, Stephen L. Walker, Collins Ahorlu, Richard Odame Phillips, Dorothy Yeboah-Manu, Rachel L. Pullan, Catherine Pitt, Jennifer Palmer,, *Improving experiences of neglected tropical diseases of the skin: Formative research for development of a complex intervention in Atwima Mponua District, Ghana.* Under Review, 2023.

- 191. Amoussouhoui, A.S., et al., *Implementation of a decentralized community-based treatment program to improve the management of Buruli ulcer in the Ouinhi district of Benin, West Africa.* PLoS neglected tropical diseases, 2018. **12**(3): p. e0006291.
- 192. Toppino, S., et al., *Community-based wound management in a rural setting of Côte d'Ivoire*. PLoS neglected tropical diseases, 2022. **16**(10): p. e0010730.
- 193. Mosam, A. and G. Todd, *Dermatology training in Africa: successes and challenges*. Dermatologic Clinics, 2021. **39**(1): p. 57-71.
- 194. Simpson, H., et al., *Research priorities to support the development of integrated national strategies to control skin-neglected tropical diseases.* Transactions of The Royal Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene, 2023. **117**(2): p. 132-138.
- 195. Richard Odame Phillips, L.O., Eric Koka, Edmond Kwaku Ocloo, Hope Simpson, Abigail Agbanyo, Daniel Okyere, Ruth Dede Tuwor, Adelaide Fokuoh-Boadu, Richard Adjei Akuffo, Jacob Novignon, Michael Ntiamoah Oppong, Iris Mosweu, Adwoa Asante-Poku, Jojo Cobbinah, Tara B. Mtuy, Jennifer Palmer, Collins Ahorlu, Yaw Ampem Amoako, Stephen L. Walker, Dorothy Yeboah-Manu, Michael Marks, Catherine Pitt, Rachel Pullan, SHARP collaboration, *Development of an integrated and decentralised skin health strategy to improve experiences of skin neglected tropical diseases in Atwima Mponua District, Ghana*. Under Review, 2023.
- 196. Dellar, R., et al., Effect of a Community-Based Holistic Care Package on Physical and Psychosocial Outcomes in People with Lower Limb Disorder Caused by Lymphatic Filariasis, Podoconiosis, and Leprosy in Ethiopia: Results from the EnDPoINT Pilot Cohort Study. The American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene, 2022. 1(aop).
- 197. Bilinski, A., et al., *When cost-effective interventions are unaffordable: Integrating cost-effectiveness and budget impact in priority setting for global health programs.* PLoS Medicine, 2017. **14**(10): p. e1002397.